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                       GENTNER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 
 
                                 BALANCE SHEETS 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                (Unaudited)   (Audited) 
                                                                                December 31,   June 30, 
                                                                                    1998         1998 
                                                                                 ----------   ---------- 
                               ASSETS 
Current assets: 
                                                                                                
    Cash and cash equivalents ................................................   $2,567,405   $  715,325 
    Accounts receivable ......................................................    2,501,735    1,743,390 
    Inventory ................................................................    2,222,175    3,154,983 
    Deferred taxes ...........................................................       40,000       40,000 
    Other current assets .....................................................      286,755      174,667 
                                                                                 ----------   ---------- 
        Total current assets .................................................    7,618,070    5,828,365 
 
Property and equipment, net ..................................................    2,226,282    2,320,336 
Related party note receivable ................................................      116,228      126,505 
Other assets, net ............................................................       25,618       36,534 
                                                                                 ----------   ---------- 
 
        Total assets .........................................................   $9,986,198   $8,311,740 
                                                                                 ==========   ========== 
 
 
                LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
 
Current liabilities: 
    Accounts payable .........................................................   $  518,250   $  537,202 
    Accrued compensation and other benefits ..................................      389,153      486,658 
    Accrued income tax .......................................................      568,182       45,982 
    Other accrued expenses ...................................................      493,876      326,841 
    Current portion of long-term debt ........................................      284,440      285,630 
    Current portion of capital lease obligations .............................      244,890      237,109 
                                                                                 ----------   ---------- 
        Total current liabilities ............................................    2,498,791    1,919,422 
 
Long-term debt ...............................................................      265,031      402,584 
Capital lease obligations ....................................................      640,378      752,728 
                                                                                 ----------   ---------- 
 
        Total liabilities ....................................................    3,404,200    3,074,734 
 
Shareholders' equity: 
    Common stock, 50,000,000 shares authorized, par value $.001,  
      8,122,616 and 7,698,523 shares issued and outstanding 
      at December 31, 1998 and June 30, 1998 .................................        8,123        7,699 
    Additional paid-in capital ...............................................    4,773,096    4,454,407 
    Retained earnings ........................................................    1,800,779      774,900 
                                                                                 ----------   ---------- 
        Total shareholders' equity ...........................................    6,581,998    5,237,006 
                                                                                 ----------   ---------- 
 
        Total liabilities and shareholders' equity ...........................   $9,986,198   $8,311,740 
                                                                                 ==========   ========== 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                             See accompanying notes 
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                       GENTNER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 
 
                            STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
 
 
 
                                                           (Unaudited) 
                                                        Three Months Ended 
                                                           December 31, 
                                                   ---------------------------- 
                                                      1998              1997 
                                                   -----------      ----------- 
                                                                       
Net sales ....................................     $ 5,253,477      $ 4,000,813 
Cost of goods sold ...........................       2,362,164        1,799,281 
                                                   -----------      ----------- 
Gross profit .................................       2,891,313        2,201,532 
 
Operating Expenses: 
    Selling and marketing ....................       1,090,110          769,431 
    General and administrative ...............         553,087          745,780 
    Product development ......................         407,406          347,831 
                                                   -----------      ----------- 
        Total operating expense ..............       2,050,603        1,863,042 
 
        Operating income .....................         840,710          338,490 
 
Other income (expense): 
    Interest income ..........................          35,611            3,495 
    Interest expense .........................         (55,830)         (59,797) 
    Other, net ...............................           4,590            5,334 
                                                   -----------      ----------- 
 
        Total other income (expense) .........         (15,629)         (50,968) 
                                                   -----------      ----------- 
 
Income before income taxes ...................         825,081          287,522 
 
Provision for income taxes ...................         308,000             --    
                                                   -----------      ----------- 
 
        Net income ...........................     $   517,081      $   287,522 
                                                   ===========      =========== 
 
 
Basic earnings per common share ..............     $      0.06      $      0.04 
                                                   ===========      =========== 
 
Diluted earnings per common share ............     $      0.06      $      0.04 
                                                   ===========      =========== 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                             See accompanying notes 
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                       GENTNER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 
 
                            STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
 
 
 
                                                           (Unaudited) 
                                                        Six Months Ended 
                                                           December 31, 
                                                 ------------------------------ 
                                                     1998              1997 
                                                 ------------      ------------ 
                                                                       
Net sales ..................................     $ 10,751,419      $  7,725,793 
Cost of goods sold .........................        4,879,525         3,626,281 
                                                 ------------      ------------ 
Gross profit ...............................        5,871,894         4,099,512 
 
Operating Expenses: 
    Selling and marketing ..................        2,219,290         1,506,211 
    General and administrative .............        1,188,718         1,345,493 
    Product development ....................          770,935           644,321 
                                                 ------------      ------------ 
        Total operating expense ............        4,178,943         3,496,025 
 
        Operating income ...................        1,692,951           603,487 
 
Other income (expense): 
    Interest income ........................           44,436             7,212 
    Interest expense .......................          (90,290)         (124,350) 
    Other, net .............................           (5,218)            9,352 
                                                 ------------      ------------ 
 
        Total other income (expense) .......          (51,072)         (107,786) 
                                                 ------------      ------------ 
 
Income before income taxes .................        1,641,879           495,701 
 
Provision for income taxes .................          616,000              --    
                                                 ------------      ------------ 
 
        Net income .........................     $  1,025,879      $    495,701 
                                                 ============      ============ 
 
 
Basic earnings per common share ............     $       0.12      $       0.06 
                                                 ============      ============ 
 
Diluted earnings per common share ..........     $       0.12      $       0.06 
                                                 ============      ============ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                             See accompanying notes 
 
 
                                       5 



   6 
 
                       GENTNER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 
 
                            STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
 
 
 
                                                                        (Unaudited) 
                                                                      Six Months Ended 
                                                                        December 31, 
                                                                     1998           1997  
                                                                 -----------    ----------- 
                                                                                   
Cash flows from operating activities: 
    Net income ................................................. $ 1,025,879    $   495,701 
    Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 
      provided by operating activities: 
        Depreciation and amortization of property and 
          equipment ............................................     376,402        334,192 
        Amortization of other assets ...........................      10,916         27,809 
        Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 
           Accounts receivable .................................    (758,345)       113,121 
           Inventory ...........................................     932,808       (508,373) 
           Other current assets ................................    (112,088)      (115,603) 
           Accounts payable and other accrued expenses .........     572,778        193,821 
                                                                 -----------    ----------- 
 
           Net cash provided by operating activities ...........   2,048,350        540,668 
 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
    Purchases of property and equipment ........................    (282,348)      (149,102) 
    Repayment of note receivable ...............................      10,277           -- 
    Increase in other assets ...................................        --           (2,099) 
                                                                 -----------    ----------- 
 
           Net cash used in investing activities ...............    (272,071)      (151,201) 
 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
    Proceeds from issuance of common stock .....................       2,073            811 
    Exercise of employee stock options .........................     317,040          7,719 
    Net repayments under line of credit ........................        --         (191,632) 
    Principal payments of capital lease obligations ............    (104,569)      (133,794) 
    Principal payments of long-term debt .......................    (138,743)      (124,154) 
                                                                 -----------    ----------- 
 
           Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities .      75,801       (441,050) 
 
Net increase (decrease) in cash ................................   1,852,080        (51,583) 
Cash at the beginning of the year ..............................     715,325         63,992 
                                                                 -----------    ----------- 
 
Cash at the end of the period .................................. $ 2,567,405    $    12,409 
                                                                 ===========    =========== 
 
Supplemental disclosure of cash outflow information: 
           Income taxes paid ................................... $   (93,800)   $      (900) 
           Interest paid ....................................... $   (93,018)   $  (127,654) 
 
Supplemental disclosure of other information: 
           Property and equipment financed by capital leases ... $      --      $    11,545 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                             See accompanying notes 
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                       GENTNER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 
 
                          NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
                                DECEMBER 31, 1998 
                                   (UNAUDITED) 
 
1.  BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
        The accompanying unaudited financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for interim financial 
information and with the instructions to Form 10-QSB of Regulation S-B. 
Accordingly, certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in 
complete financial statements have been condensed or omitted. These financial 
statements should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and 
footnotes thereto included in the Company's 1998 Annual Report and Form 10-KSB. 
 
        In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal 
recurring adjustments) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been 
included. The results of operations for interim periods are not necessarily 
indicative of the results of operations to be expected for the full year. 
 
2.  EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE 
 
        The following tables set forth the computation of basic and diluted net 
income per share: 
 
 
 
                                                                                    Three months ended 
                                                                                       December 31, 
                                                                                    1998         1997 
                                                                                 ----------   ---------- 
                                                                                                
Numerator: 
    Net income .............................................................     $  517,081   $  287,522 
                                                                                 ==========   ========== 
Denominator: 
    Denominator for basic net income per share - weighted average shares....      8,122,593    7,375,443 
    Effect of dilutive securities using treasury stock method ..............        297,682      246,562 
                                                                                 ----------   ---------- 
 ............................................................................      8,420,275    7,922,025 
                                                                                 ==========   ========== 
Net income per share - basic ...............................................     $     0.06   $     0.04 
Net income per share - dilutive ............................................     $     0.06   $     0.04 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                     Six months ended 
                                                                                       December 31, 
                                                                                    1998         1997 
                                                                                 ----------   ---------- 
                                                                                                
Numerator: 
    Net income .............................................................     $1,025,879   $  495,701 
                                                                                 ==========   ========== 
Denominator: 
    Denominator for basic net income per share - weighted average shares....      8,036,454    7,670,951 
    Effect of dilutive securities using treasury stock method ..............        244,964      215,669 
                                                                                 ----------   ---------- 
 ............................................................................      8,281,418    7,886,620 
                                                                                 ==========   ========== 
Net income per share - basic ...............................................     $     0.12   $     0.06 
Net income per share - dilutive ............................................     $     0.12   $     0.06 
 
 
3.  COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
        As of July 1, 1998, the Company adopted Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 130, "Reporting Comprehensive Income." Comprehensive 
income for the six-month periods ended December 31, 1998 and 1997 was equal to 
net income. 
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                   NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (CONTINUED) 
 
 
4.  USE OF ESTIMATES 
 
        The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the financial statements and 
these accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
5.  INVENTORY 
 
        Inventory is summarized as follows: 
 
 
                                        (Unaudited)        (Audited) 
                                        December 31,       June 30, 
                                            1998             1998 
                                         ----------       ---------- 
                                                            
       Raw Materials ................    $  753,565       $1,014,732 
       Work in progress .............       413,174          524,313 
       Finished Goods ...............     1,055,436        1,615,938 
                                         ----------       ---------- 
 
              Total inventory .......    $2,222,175       $3,154,983 
                                         ==========       ========== 
 
 
 
6.  STOCK OPTION EXERCISE 
 
        The following table shows the changes in stock options outstanding. 
 
 
 
                                                                           Weighted 
                                                              Number       Average 
                                                            of Shares   Exercise Price 
 
                                                                           
Options outstanding as of June 30, 1998 ..............      1,853,000      $   1.61 
Options expired & canceled ...........................         (4,500)     $   0.75 
Options exercised ....................................       (423,202)     $   0.75 
                                                           ----------      -------- 
 
Options outstanding as of September 30, 1998 .........      1,425,298      $   1.86 
 
 
Options issued .......................................         55,000      $   2.88 
Options expired & canceled ...........................        (92,000)     $   2.42 
                                                           ----------      -------- 
 
Options outstanding as of December 31, 1998 ..........      1,388,298      $   1.86 
                                                           ==========      ======== 
 
 
 
7.  COMMITMENTS 
 
 
        The Company has entered into an agreement to purchase 300 units of RSI 
videoconference engines over the next year, at a cost of approximately 
$1,000,000. The Company has entered into this agreement in order to secure parts 
for the new video product line. 
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                MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
                       CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
 
Results of Operations 
 
        Sales for the three months ended December 31, 1998 increased 31% 
compared to the same three-month period last year. Sales for the six months 
ended December 31, 1998 increased 39% compared to the same six-month period last 
year. In both cases, growth is primarily due to increased Teleconferencing 
sales. 
 
        Sales in Teleconferencing operations increased 66% comparing the second 
quarter of this fiscal year to the same quarter last year. This increase is due 
to increased sales of the Company's teleconferencing products. Teleconferencing 
products experienced a 74% sales growth comparing the second quarter of this 
fiscal year to the same quarter last year, driven by the Audio Perfect(TM) 
product line. The Audio Perfect(TM) product line began shipping in April of 
1998. These products use a new digital technology called Distributed Echo 
Cancellation(TM) and incorporate several functional devices including automatic 
microphone mixing, echo cancellation, audio routing, audio equalization and 
audio processing into a single device. Instead of just getting the revenue from 
the sale of an echo cancellation unit, the Company will receive more of the 
revenue associated with a room installation as a result of the expanded 
applications. Continuing strong sales in teleconferencing services also 
contributed to Teleconferencing growth. The Company's conference calling service 
experienced a 46% sales growth over the same quarter last fiscal year. This 
increase is the result of the Company expanding its sales staff, which is 
aggressively marketing its conference calling service. Sales in Teleconferencing 
operations increased 80% for this fiscal year to date as compared to the same 
period in fiscal 1998. This is also due to the strong sales of the Audio 
Perfect(TM) product line and the continued growth of teleconferencing services. 
 
        Broadcast sales increased 2% in the second quarter of this fiscal year 
compared to the second quarter of last fiscal year. Broadcast sales increased 
11% for the six months ended December 31, 1998 compared to the six months ended 
December 31, 1997. In this market, Remote Facilities Management (RFM, formerly 
known as Remote Site Control) grew 17%, comparing second quarters, and 29%, 
comparing year to date, mainly due to increased sales of the GSC3000 and its 
predecessor, the VRC-2000. The GSC3000 allows broadcasters to monitor and 
control many transmitter sites from one location. Sales to the television market 
and the introduction of the Voice Interface also contributed to the increased 
sales of the GSC3000. The Voice Interface allows an engineer to call the remote 
equipment from any telephone, check on its status, and make adjustments using 
only the telephone. The RFM products are also being used in applications that 
are not broadcast related. This means the potential uses of these products have 
been greatly expanded. The Telephone Interface line of products also contributed 
to the broadcast sales, primarily due to the Company's line of new telephone 
hybrids. Telephone hybrids are used to connect telephone line audio to 
professional audio equipment. 
 
        Assistive Listening Systems (ALS) product sales increased 17% for the 
second quarter for fiscal 1999 compared to the second quarter for fiscal 1998. 
There has been a general increase in ALS sales, partially due to the new digital 
receivers. Older receivers had some problems, which are solved by the digital 
receivers. This product improvement has increased dealer confidence in the 
Company's ALS products and generated more sales. ALS sales decreased 2% for the 
six months ending December 31, 1998 compared to the six months ending December 
31, 1997. ALS sales were higher for this period last year due to a large first 
quarter backlog of orders for ALS products, including the then new PTX portable 
transmitter. 
 
        All other sales decreased 48% in the second quarter of this fiscal year 
compared to the second quarter of last fiscal year, and 24% for the six months 
ending December 31, 1998 compared to the same period in 1997. The Company 
believes that the products in this category take focus and resources away from 
its core business and expects to see sales of these products to continue to 
decline. 
 
        The Company's gross profit margin percentage was 55% for the second 
quarter of this year, and 55% for the same quarter last year. The Company's 
gross profit margin percentage was 55% for the first six months of this year, 
compared to 53% for the same period last year. This increase is primarily due to 
product mix. 
 
        Operating expenses for the quarter increased 10% when comparing the 
second quarters of this fiscal year and last fiscal year. Operating expenses for 
the year to date increased 20% over last year. The most significant portion of 
these increases came in Sales and Marketing expenses. 
 



        Sales and Marketing expenses increased 42% for the second quarter as 
compared to last year. This was due to increased advertising expenses and the 
hiring of additional personnel to more aggressively market the Company's 
products and services. 
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                MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
                CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - (CONTINUED) 
 
 
Results of Operations - (continued) 
 
Also contributing to this increase was higher commission expense resulting from 
the increase in sales. Sales and Marketing expenses increased 47% for the 
year-to-date as compared to last year-to-date. This was also the result of the 
hiring of additional personnel, increased advertising expenses and increased 
commission expense. 
 
        Product Development expenses increased 17% in the second quarter of this 
year compared to last year. Product Development expenses increased 20% for the 
year-to-date as compared to the same period last year. The Product Development 
team is aggressively working on new product development. Part of this product 
development requires hiring additional personnel and investing in technical 
research. 
 
        Second quarter General and Administrative expenses are down 26% compared 
to the same period last year. Expenses were higher the second quarter of fiscal 
1998 due to a severance package for the past CEO. Year-to-date expenses are down 
12% as compared to the same period last year. This decrease is mainly the result 
of the severance package. 
 
        Interest expense for the quarter is down 7% compared to the same quarter 
last year. In the past six months, the Company has not used its line of credit. 
Since there was no outstanding balance, there was no interest expense associated 
with the line of credit. Also contributing to this decrease in interest expense 
was the maturing of some of the Company's leases. Interest expense for the year 
is down 27% for the same reasons. 
 
        Due to tax loss carryforwards, the Company paid no income taxes in the 
first two quarters of fiscal 1998. During the second quarter of fiscal 1999, 
income tax expense was calculated at a combined federal and state tax rate of 
about 38%. This results in a tax expense of $308,000 for the second quarter and 
$616,000 for the year. 
 
Financial Condition and Liquidity 
 
        The Company's current ratio increased from 3.04:1 on June 30, 1998 to 
3.05:1 on December 31, 1998. This increase in current ratio was caused primarily 
by an increase in the amount of cash on hand, offsetting the increase in accrued 
expenses. Also affecting the current ratio is the increase in the accounts 
receivable due to increased sales. 
 
        The Company continues to experience strong operating cash flows. The 
reduction of inventory has been a significant factor in improved operating cash 
flows. Inventory has been reduced due to improvements made to the manufacturing 
process. The length of time that a manufacturing job is open has been reduced 
from an average of 60 days to 5 to 7 days. Increasing sales and profitability 
have also contributed to positive operating cash flows. Also contributing to 
this are the increases in accrued tax expenses. 
 
        The Company has an available revolving line of credit of $5.0 million, 
which is secured by the Company's accounts receivable and inventory. The 
interest rate on the line of credit is a variable interest rate (250 basis 
points over the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), or prime less 0.25%, 
whichever the Company chooses). There was no outstanding balance on December 31, 
1998. The line of credit expires on December 22, 2000. 
 
        As sales continue to increase, the Company expects to achieve its 
business plan through a combination of internally generated funds and short-term 
or long-term borrowings, if necessary. 
 
Forward Looking Statements and Risk Factors 
 
        To the extent any statement presented herein deals with information that 
is not historical, such statement is necessarily forward looking. As such, it is 
subject to occurrence of many events outside of the Company's control that could 
cause the Company's results to differ materially from predicted results. Please 
see a detailed list of the risk factors that are outlined in the Company's Form 
10-KSB for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1998, incorporated herein by 
reference. 
 
Year 2000 
 
        The Company is continuing to assess the impact of the Year 2000 issue* 
on its information technology ("IT") and non-IT systems and believes that 
certain software and hardware currently in use will have to be upgraded. To 



date, the Company has 
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                MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL 
                CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - (CONTINUED) 
 
Forward Looking Statements and Risk Factors - (continued) 
 
assessed 100% of its existing IT systems and approximately 80% of its existing 
non-IT systems. $49,860 has been incurred to upgrade existing systems so that 
they are Year 2000 compatible. Approximately another $4,000 will be needed to 
complete the upgrade. To date, the Company has identified two of its systems and 
some personal computers that will have to be upgraded. One upgrade has taken 
place, and the others are scheduled for completion by April 30, 1999. There 
should be no significant interruptions to the business caused by the upgrade 
process. However, if these upgrades are not completed in a timely manner, the 
impact on the operations of the Company could be material. The Company plans to 
finance any necessary upgrades with operating income. 
 
        The Company has purchased the software and hardware to upgrade its 
internal phone system, including the voice mail system. The system was upgraded, 
and associates were trained how to use the new system by the end of October of 
1998. The cost of this software and hardware was $49,860. The second system 
identified to date is the conference calling bridge. This system is essential to 
the Company's conference calling service. It is scheduled for upgrading as soon 
as the Company receives the software. The manufacturer is furnishing the 
software to the Company at no cost, and internal costs are expected to be 
minimal. The personal computers will be replaced by April 30, 1999, at a cost of 
approximately $4,000. 
 
        The Company is in the process of determining through direct contacts 
whether its material vendors and suppliers, and its larger customers are Year 
2000 compliant. To date, no major customer or supplier that the Company 
contacted has stated any Year 2000 compliance problems that would significantly 
impact the operations of the Company. 
 
        At the present time, the company believes that a reasonably likely worst 
case scenario involving a Year 2000 event would be in a non-IT system affecting 
the Company's manufacturing process. Such an event could result in the 
suspension of the affected portion of the manufacturing process until such a 
problem is corrected. However, the Company believes that as it continues its 
Year 2000 assessment the risk of such an event will decrease. 
 
        The Company currently is in the process of developing contingency plans 
for dealing with Year 2000 issues, including the worst case scenario just 
described. Those plans are scheduled to be complete and in place by the end of 
fiscal 1999. 
 
        The Company has performed a Year 2000 compliance review of its product 
line. To date, the company has addressed all existing Year 2000 compliance 
issues on products. 
 
        The costs of the projects and the dates on which the Company believes it 
will complete the Year 2000 upgrades are based on management's best estimates at 
this time, which were derived utilizing numerous assumptions of future events, 
including the continued availability of certain resources and other factors. 
However, there can be no guarantees that these estimates will be achieved, that 
personnel trained in this area will be available at a reasonable cost, or that 
we will locate and correct all relevant computer codes and similar 
uncertainties. 
 
*  The "Year 2000 Problem" has arisen because many computer programs were 
   written using only the last two digits to refer to a year (i.e. "98" for 
   1998). Therefore, these computer programs may not properly recognize the year 
   2000. If not corrected, many computer applications could fail or create 
   erroneous results. 
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                           PART II - OTHER INFORMATION 
 
Item 6.  Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K 
 
     (a) Exhibits 
 
               Exhibits Required by Item 601 of Regulation S-B 
 
The following exhibits are hereby incorporated by reference from the Company's 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1989. The exhibit 
numbers shown are those in the 1989 Form 10-K as originally filed. 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT 
NUMBER            DESCRIPTION 
- -------           ----------- 
                
3.1(1)(2)         Articles of Incorporation and all amendments thereto through March 1, 1988. (Page 10) 
 
10.4(1)(2)        VRC-1000 Purchase Agreement between Gentner Engineering Company, Inc. (a former 
                  subsidiary of the Company which was merged into the Company) and Gentner Research 
                  Ltd., dated January 1, 1987. (Page 71) 
 
 
 
The following exhibits are hereby incorporated by reference from the Company's 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1991. The exhibit 
numbers shown are those in the 1991 Form 10-K as originally filed. 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT 
NUMBER            DESCRIPTION 
- -------           ----------- 
                
3.1(1)(2)         Amendment to Articles of Incorporation, dated July 1, 1991. (Page 65) 
 
10.1(1)(2)        Internal Modem Purchase Agreement between Gentner Engineering Company, Inc. and 
                  Gentner Research, Ltd., dated October 12, 1987.  (Page 69) 
 
10.2(1)(2)        Digital Hybrid Purchase Agreement between Gentner Engineering, Inc. and Gentner 
                  Research, Ltd., dated September 8, 1988.  (Page 74) 
 
 
 
The following documents are hereby incorporated by reference from the Company's 
Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1993. The exhibit numbers shown 
are those in the 1993 Form 10-KSB as originally filed. 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT 
NUMBER            DESCRIPTION 
- -------           ----------- 
                
3(1)(2)           Bylaws, as amended on August 24, 1993.  (Page 16) 
 
 
 
The following documents are hereby incorporated by reference from the Company's 
Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1996. The exhibit numbers shown 
are those in the 1996 Form 10-KSB as originally filed. 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT 
NUMBER            DESCRIPTION 
- -------           ----------- 
                
10(1)(2)(3)       1990 Incentive Plan, as amended August 7, 1996 (Page 40) 
 
 
 
The following documents are hereby incorporated by reference from the Company's 
Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1997. The exhibit numbers shown 
are those in the 1997 Form 10-KSB as originally filed. 
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EXHIBIT 
NUMBER            DESCRIPTION 
- -------           ----------- 
                
10.1(1)(2)        Commercial Credit and Security Agreement, and Promissory Note, between Company and 
                  First Security Bank, N.A. (original aggregate amount of $2,500,000) (Page 7) 
 
10.2(1)(2)(3)     1997 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (Page 37) 
 
10.3(1)(2)        Promissory Note in favor of Safeco Credit Company ($419,000) (Page 52) 
 
10.4(1)(2)        Commercial Credit and Security Agreement, and Promissory Note, between Company and 
                  First Security Bank ($322,716.55) (Page 53) 
 
10.5(1)(2)        Lease between Company and Valley American Investment Company (Page 71) 
 
 
 
The following documents are hereby incorporated by reference from the Company's 
Form 10-KSB for the fiscal year ended June 30, 1998. The exhibit numbers shown 
are those in the 1998 Form 10-KSB as originally filed. 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT 
NUMBER            DESCRIPTION 
- -------           ----------- 
                
10.1(1)(2)(3)     1998 Stock Option Plan and Form of Grant (Page 42) 
 
10.2(1)(2)        Modification Agreement dated as of December 24, 1997, between First Security Bank, 
                  N.A. and the Company (Page 66) 
 
 
 
The following document is filed as an exhibit to this Form 10-QSB. 
 
 
 
EXHIBIT 
NUMBER            DESCRIPTION 
- -------           ----------- 
                
10                Promissory Note, Loan Agreement, and Commercial Security Agreement between Company 
                  and Bank One, Utah, N.A. dated as of January 5, 1999 (original aggregate amount of 
                  $5,000,000) (Page 15) 
 
27                Financial Data Schedule (Page 36) 
 
 
 
(1)   Denotes exhibits specifically incorporated into this Form 10-KSB by 
      reference to other filings pursuant to the provisions of Rule 12b-32 under 
      the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. 
 
(2)   Denotes exhibits specifically incorporated into this Form 10-KSB by 
      reference, pursuant to Regulation S-B, Item 10(f)(2). These documents are 
      located under File No. 0-17219 and are located at the Securities and 
      Exchange Commission, Public Reference Branch, 450 South 5th St., N.W., 
      Washington, DC 20549. 
 
(3)   Identifies management or compensatory plans, contracts or arrangements. 
 
 
 
 
        (b) Reports on Form 8-K 
 
               The Company filed no reports on Form 8-K during the latest fiscal 
quarter. 
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                                   SIGNATURES 
 
        In accordance with the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act, 
the registrant caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, 
thereunto duly authorized. 
 
                                  GENTNER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION       
                                  (Registrant) 
 
Date:  February 11, 1999          /s/ Susie Strohm                               
                                  ---------------------------------------------- 
                                  Susie Strohm 
                                  Vice President, Finance 
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                                 EXHIBIT INDEX 
 
 
EXHIBIT 
NUMBER            DESCRIPTION 
- -------           ----------- 
                
10                Promissory Note, Loan Agreement, and Commercial Security Agreement between Company 
                  and Bank One, Utah, N.A. dated as of January 5, 1999 (original aggregate amount of 
                  $5,000,000) (Page 15) 
 
27                Financial Data Schedule (Page 36) 
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                                   EXHIBIT 10 
 
       PROMISSORY NOTE, LOAN AGREEMENT, AND COMMERCIAL SECURITY AGREEMENT 
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                                 PROMISSORY NOTE 
 
 
 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
    Principal      Loan Date    Maturity     Loan No    Call    Collateral   Account      Officer  Initials 
                                                                              
  $5,000,000.00    01-05-1999  12-22-2000              096501       326     8279584877     73609 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
References in the shaded area are for Lender's use only and do not limit the applicability of this document  
to any particular loan or item. 
- ----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Borrower: Gentner Communications Corporation, a Utah         Lender:    Bank One, Utah, NA 
          corporation                                                   Commercial Banking 
          1825 Research Way                                             80 W. Broadway 
          Salt Lake City, UT  84119                                     Salt Lake City, UT  84101 
=========================================================================================================== 
 
 
 
Principal Amount:  $5,000,000.00                  Date of Note:  January 5, 1999 
 
PROMISE TO PAY. For value received, Gentner Communications Corporation, a Utah 
corporation ("Borrower") promises to pay to Bank One, Utah, NA ("Lender"), or 
order, in lawful money of the United States of America, the principal amount of 
Five Million & 00/100 Dollars ($5,000,000.00) ("Total Principal Amount") or so 
much as may be outstanding, together with interest on the unpaid outstanding 
principal balance from the date advanced until paid in full. 
 
PAYMENT. This Note shall be payable as follows: Interest shall be due and 
payable monthly as it accrues, commencing on February 1, 1999 and continuing on 
the same day of each month thereafter during the term of this Note, and the 
outstanding principal balance of this Note, together with all accrued but unpaid 
interest, shall be due and payable on December 22, 2000. The annual interest 
rate for this Note is computed on a 365/360 basis; that is, by applying the 
ratio of the annual interest rate over a year of 360 days, multiplied by the 
outstanding principal balance, multiplied by the actual number of days the 
principal balance is outstanding. Borrower will pay Lender at the address 
designated by Lender from time to time in writing. If any payment of principal 
of or interest on this Note shall become due on a day which is not a Business 
Day, such payment shall be made on the next succeeding Business Day. As used 
herein, the term "Business Day" shall mean any day other than a Saturday, Sunday 
or any other day on which national banking associations are authorized to be 
closed. Unless otherwise agreed to, in writing, or otherwise required by 
applicable law, payments will be applied first to accrued, unpaid interest, then 
to principal, and any remaining amount to any unpaid collection costs, late 
charges and other charges, provided, however, upon delinquency or other default, 
Lender reserves the right to apply payments among principal, interest, late 
charges, collection costs and other charges at its discretion. The books and 
records of Lender shall be prima facie evidence of all outstanding principal of 
and accrued but unpaid interest on this Note. If this Note is governed by or is 
executed in connection with a loan agreement, this Note is subject to the terms 
and provisions thereof. 
 
VARIABLE INTEREST RATE. The interest rate on this Note is subject to fluctuation 
based upon the Prime Rate of interest in effect from time to time (the "Index") 
(which rate may not be the lowest, best or most favorable rate of interest which 
Lender may charge on loans to its customers). "Prime Rate" shall mean the rate 
announced from time to time by Lender as its prime rate. Each change in the rate 
to be charged on this Note will become effective without notice on the same day 
as the Index changes. Except as otherwise provided herein, the unpaid principal 
balance of this Note will accrue interest at a rate per annum which will from 
time to time be equal to the sum of the Index, minus 0.250%. NOTICE: Under no 
circumstances will the interest rate on this Note be more than the maximum rate 
allowed by applicable law. 
 
PREPAYMENT. Borrower agrees that all loan fees and other prepaid finance charges 
are earned fully as of the date of the loan and will not be subject to refund 
upon early payment (whether voluntary or as a result of default), except as 
otherwise required by law. Except for the foregoing, Borrower may pay without 
fee all or a portion of the principal amount owed hereunder earlier than it is 
due. All prepayments shall be applied to the indebtedness owing hereunder in 
such order and manner as Lender may from time to time determine in its sole 
discretion. 
 
LATE CHARGE. If a payment is 10 days or more late, Borrower will be charged 
5.000% of the regularly scheduled payment or $25.00, whichever is greater. 
 
DEFAULT. Borrower will be in default if any of the following happens: (a) 
Borrower fails to make any payment of principal or interest when due under this 



Note or any other indebtedness owing now or hereafter by Borrower to Lender; (b) 
failure of Borrower or any other party to comply with or perform any term, 
obligation, covenant or condition contained in this Note or in any other 
promissory note, credit agreement, loan agreement, guaranty, security agreement, 
mortgage, deed of trust or any other instrument, agreement or document, whether 
now or hereafter existing, executed in connection with this Note (the Note and 
all such other instruments, agreements, and documents shall be collectively 
known herein as the "Related Documents"); (c) Any representation or statement 
made or furnished to Lender herein, in any of the Related Documents or in 
connection with any of the foregoing is false or misleading in any material 
respect; (d) Borrower or any other party liable for the payment of this Note, 
whether as maker, endorser, guarantor, surety or otherwise, becomes insolvent or 
bankrupt, has a receiver or trustee appointed for any part of its property, 
makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors, or any proceeding is 
commenced either by any such party or against it under any bankruptcy or 
insolvency laws; (e) the occurrence of any event of default specified in any of 
the other Related Documents or in any other agreement now or hereafter arising 
between Borrower and Lender; (f) the occurrence of any event which permits the 
acceleration of the maturity of any indebtedness owing now or hereafter by 
Borrower to any third party; or (g) the liquidation, termination, dissolution, 
death or legal incapacity of Borrower or any other party liable for the payment 
of this Note, whether as maker, endorser, guarantor, surety, or otherwise. 
 
LENDER'S RIGHTS. Upon default, Lender may at its option, without further notice 
or demand (i) declare the entire unpaid principal balance on this Note, all 
accrued unpaid interest and all other costs and expenses for which Borrower is 
responsible for under this Note and any other Related Document immediately due, 
(ii) refuse to advance any additional amounts under this Note, (iii) foreclose 
all liens securing payment hereof, (iv) pursue any other rights, remedies and 
recourses available to the Lender, including without limitation, any such 
rights, remedies or recourses under the Related Documents, at law or in equity, 
or (v) pursue any combination of the foregoing. Upon default, including failure 
to pay upon final maturity, Lender, at its option, may also, if permitted under 
applicable law, do one or both of the following: (a) increase the variable 
interest rate on this Note 3.000 percentage points, and (b) add any unpaid 
accrued interest to principal and such sum will bear interest therefrom until 
paid at the rate provided in this Note (including any increased rate). The 
interest rate will not exceed the maximum rate permitted by applicable law. 
Lender may hire an attorney to help collect this Note if Borrower does not pay 
and Borrower will pay Lender's reasonable attorneys' fees and all other costs of 
collection, unless prohibited by applicable law. This Note has been delivered to 
Lender and accepted by Lender in the State of Utah. Subject to the provisions on 
arbitration, this Note shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the 
laws of the State of Utah without regard to any conflict of laws or provisions 
thereof. 
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PURPOSE. Borrower agrees that no advances under this Note shall be used for 
personal, family, or household purposes and that all advances hereunder shall be 
used solely for business, commercial, agricultural or other similar purposes. 
 
JURY WAIVER. THE BORROWER AND LENDER (BY ITS ACCEPTANCE HEREOF) HEREBY 
VOLUNTARILY, KNOWINGLY, IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO HAVE 
A JURY PARTICIPATE IN RESOLVING ANY DISPUTE (WHETHER BASED UPON CONTRACT, TORT 
OR OTHERWISE) BETWEEN OR AMONG THE BORROWER AND LENDER ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY 
WAY RELATED TO THIS NOTE, ANY OTHER RELATED DOCUMENT, OR ANY RELATIONSHIP 
BETWEEN LENDER AND BORROWER. THIS PROVISION IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT TO LENDER 
TO PROVIDE THE FINANCING EVIDENCED BY THIS NOTE. 
 
DISHONORED ITEM FEE. Borrower will pay a fee to Lender of $20.00 if Borrower 
makes a payment on Borrower's loan and the check or preauthorized charge with 
which Borrower pays is later dishonored. 
 
RIGHT OF SETOFF. Unless a lien would be prohibited by law or would render a 
nontaxable account taxable, Borrower grants to Lender a contractual security 
interest in, and hereby assigns, conveys, delivers, pledges, and transfers to 
Lender all Borrower's right, title and interest in and to, Borrower's accounts 
with Lender (whether checking, savings, or any other account), including without 
limitation all accounts held jointly with someone else and all accounts Borrower 
may open in the future. Borrower authorizes Lender, to the extent permitted by 
applicable law, to charge or setoff all sums owing on this Note against any and 
all such accounts. 
 
LINE OF CREDIT. This Note evidences a revolving line of credit. Borrower may 
request advances and make payments hereunder from time to time, provided that it 
is understood and agreed that the aggregate principal amount outstanding from 
time to time hereunder shall not at any time exceed the Total Principal Amount. 
The unpaid principal balance of this Note shall increase and decrease with each 
new advance or payment hereunder, as the case may be. Subject to the terms 
hereof, Borrower may borrow, repay and reborrow hereunder. Advances under this 
Note, as well as directions for payment from Borrower's accounts, may be 
requested orally or in writing by Borrower or by an authorized person. Lender 
may, but need not, require that all oral requests be confirmed in writing. 
Borrower agrees to be liable for all sums either: (a) advanced in accordance 
with the instructions of an authorized person or (b) credited to any of 
Borrower's accounts with Lender. 
 
ARBITRATION. Lender and Borrower agree that upon the written demand of either 
party, whether made before or after the institution of any legal proceedings, 
but prior to the rendering of any judgment in that proceeding, all disputes, 
claims and controversies between them, whether individual, joint, or class in 
nature, arising from this Note, any Related Document or otherwise, including 
without limitation contract disputes and tort claims, shall be resolved by 
binding arbitration pursuant to the Commercial Rules of the American Arbitration 
Association ("AAA"). Any arbitration proceeding held pursuant to this 
arbitration provision shall be conducted in the city nearest the Borrower's 
address having an AAA regional office, or at any other place selected by mutual 
agreement of the parties. No act to take or dispose of any collateral shall 
constitute a waiver of this arbitration agreement or be prohibited by this 
arbitration agreement. This arbitration provision shall not limit the right of 
either party during any dispute, claim or controversy to seek, use, and employ 
ancillary, or preliminary rights and/or remedies, judicial or otherwise, for the 
purposes of realizing upon, preserving, protecting, foreclosing upon or 
proceeding under forcible entry and detainer for possession of, any real or 
personal property, and any such action shall not be deemed an election of 
remedies. Such remedies include, without limitation, obtaining injunctive relief 
or a temporary restraining order, invoking a power of sale under any deed of 
trust or mortgage, obtaining a writ of attachment or imposition of a 
receivership, or exercising any rights relating to personal property, including 
exercising the right of set-off, or taking or disposing of such property with or 
without judicial process pursuant to the Uniform Commercial Code. Any disputes, 
claims, or controversies concerning the lawfulness or reasonableness of an act, 
or exercise of any right or remedy, concerning any collateral, including any 
claim to rescind, reform, or otherwise modify any agreement relating to the 
collateral, shall also be arbitrated; provided, however that no arbitrator shall 
have the right or the power to enjoin or restrain any act of either party. 
Judgment upon any award rendered by any arbitrator may be entered in any court 
having jurisdiction. The statute of limitations, estoppel, waiver, laches and 
similar doctrines which would otherwise be applicable in an action brought by a 
party shall be applicable in any arbitration proceeding, and the commencement of 
an arbitration proceeding shall be deemed the commencement of any action for 
these purposes. The Federal Arbitration Act (Title 9 of the United States Code) 
shall apply to the construction, interpretation, and enforcement of this 
arbitration provision. 
 
ADDITIONAL PROVISION REGARDING LATE CHARGES. In the "Late Charge" provision set 
forth above, the following language is hereby added after the word "greater": 



"up to the maximum amount of One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($1500.00) per 
late charge". 
 
ADDENDUM. An addendum, titled "ADDENDUM", is attached to this document and by 
this reference is made a part of this document just as if all the provisions, 
terms and conditions of the ADDENDUM had been fully set forth in this document. 
 
AVAILABILITY FEE. Borrower shall pay to Lender an availability fee (the 
"Availability Fee") with respect to each calendar quarter during the term of the 
Note, based on the unused amount of the Note. The Availability Fee shall be an 
amount equal to A x (B - C) x (D / E), where A equals 1/8%; B equals the 
original amount of the Note; C equals the average daily outstanding principal 
balance of the Loan during the calendar quarter; D equals the actual number of 
days elapsed during the calendar quarter; and E equals (360 or 365, depending on 
interest accrual basis]. Each Availability Fee shall be due and payable to 
Lender quarterly, in arrears, within fifteen (15) days after Borrower's receipt 
of an invoice for the Availability Fee from the Lender. 
 
GENERAL PROVISIONS. Lender may delay or forgo enforcing any of its rights or 
remedies under this Note without losing them. Borrower and any other person who 
signs, guarantees or endorses this Note, to the extent allowed by law, waive 
presentment, demand for payment, protest and notice of dishonor. Upon any change 
in the terms of this Note, and unless otherwise expressly stated in writing, no 
party who signs this Note, whether as maker, guarantor, accommodation maker or 
endorser, shall be released from liability. All such parties agree that Lender 
may renew or extend (repeatedly and for any length of time) this Note, or 
release any party or guarantor or collateral; or impair, fail to realize upon or 
perfect Lender's security interest in the collateral; and take any other action 
deemed necessary by Lender without the consent of or notice to anyone. All such 
parties also agree that Lender may modify this Note without the consent of or 
notice to anyone other than the party with whom the modification is made. 
 
PRIOR TO SIGNING THIS NOTE, BORROWER READ AND UNDERSTOOD ALL THE PROVISIONS OF 
THIS NOTE, INCLUDING THE VARIABLE INTEREST RATE PROVISIONS. BORROWER AGREES TO 
THE TERMS OF THE NOTE AND ACKNOWLEDGES RECEIPT OF A COMPLETED COPY OF THE NOTE. 
 
 
 
BORROWER: 
 
Gentner Communications Corporation, a Utah corporation 
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X /s/ Susie Strohm            
- ------------------------------------ 
    Susie Strohm, CFO 
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                                    ADDENDUM 
 
THIS ADDENDUM is executed with respect to the Promissory Note in the original 
principal amount of $5,000,000.00 dated January 5, 1999 and maturing on December 
22, 2000 ("Note"), made by Gentner Communications Corporation, a Utah 
corporation ("Borrower") payable to the order of Bank One, Utah, NA ("Lender") 
and is hereby incorporated into and made a part of the Note. 
 
1. The paragraph in the Note having the caption "VARIABLE INTEREST RATE" is 
hereby deleted in its entirety. 
 
2. The following terms shall have the following meanings when used in this 
Addendum. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings 
of such terms in the Note. 
 
"Interest Period" means a period commencing on the date selected by Borrower and 
ending on the last day of the period selected by Borrower as provided herein. 
Each Interest Period shall be of a duration of either one, two, three, or six 
months, as selected by Borrower as provided herein; provided, however, that: (i) 
Interest Periods commencing on the same date shall be of the same duration; (ii) 
Whenever the last day of an Interest Period would otherwise occur on a day other 
than a Business Day, the last day of the Interest Period shall be extended to 
occur on the next succeeding Business Day, provided, however, that if the 
extension would cause the last day of the Interest Period to occur in the next 
following calendar month, the last day of the Interest Period shall occur on the 
next preceding Business Day; and (iii) No Interest Period shall extend beyond 
the maturity of the Note. 
 
"Libor Rate" means the sum of (i) two and one-half percent (2.50%) per annum, 
and (ii) the offered rate for the period equal to or next greater than the 
Interest Period for U.S. Dollar deposits of not less than $1,000,000.00 as of 
11:00 A.M. City of London, England time two London Business Days prior to the 
first date of the Interest Period as shown on the display designated as "British 
Bankers Assoc. Interest Settlement Rates" on the Telerate System ("Telerate"), 
Page 3750 or 3740, or such other page or pages as may replace such pages on 
Telerate for the purpose of displaying such rate. Provided, however, that if 
such rate is not available on Telerate then such offered rate shall be otherwise 
independently determined by Lender from an alternate, substantially similar 
independent source available to Lender or shall be calculated by Lender by a 
substantially similar methodology as that theretofore used to determine such 
offered rate in Telerate. 
 
"Libor Rate Amount" means some or all of the indebtedness that bears or is 
requested to bear interest at the Libor Rate. 
 
"London Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on 
which banking institutions are generally authorized or obligated by law or 
executive order to close in the City of London, England. 
 
"Variable Interest Rate" means the rate per annum equal to the sum of (i) one 
quarter percent (.25%) per annum, minus (ii) the rate announced from time to 
time by Bank One, NA as its prime rate ("Index"), which may not be the lowest, 
best or most favorable rate of interest which Lender may charge on loans to its 
customers. Each change in the Variable Interest Rate will become effective 
without notice on the same day as the Index changes. 
 
"Variable Rate Amount" means some or all of the indebtedness that bears or that 
is requested to bear interest at the Variable Interest Rate. 
 
3. Notwithstanding any provision of the Note or the Related Documents to the 
contrary, Borrower may elect that, as of any Business Day designated by 
Borrower, upon notice that is received by Lender not later than noon (Salt Lake 
City, Utah local time) two (2) Business Days prior to such designated date, 
interest on a Libor Rate Amount shall accrue at a Libor Rate during an Interest 
Period. Each such notice shall specify (i) such designated date, (ii) the amount 
of such Libor Rate Amount, and (iii) the Interest Period. In addition, Borrower 
may as of any designated Business Day, upon notice that is received by Lender 
not later than noon (Salt Lake City, Utah local time) two (2) Business Days 
prior to such designated Business Day, convert a Libor Rate Amount into a 
Variable Rate Amount or continue a Libor Rate Amount as a Libor Rate Amount for 
a new Interest Period, provided, that Borrower may make such conversion or 
continuation only on the last day of the Interest Period. Each such notice of 
conversion or continuation shall specify (A) the date of such conversion or 
continuation, (B) the amount to be converted or continued, and (C) the Interest 
Period. Any amount not complying with the foregoing requirements for an amount 
bearing interest at the Libor Rate shall bear interest at the Variable Interest 
Rate. Any Libor Rate Amount not continued as a Libor Rate Amount in compliance 
with the foregoing requirements shall, after the end of the Interest Period, 
bear interest at the Variable Interest Rate, whether or not Borrower has 
expressly elected to convert the Libor Rate Amount to a Variable Rate Amount. 



Lender shall be entitled to fund and maintain its funding of all or any part of 
the Note in any manner it sees fit. 
 
4. Borrower shall pay to Lender from time to time such amounts as Lender may 
determine to be necessary to compensate Lender for any costs incurred by Lender 
which Lender determines are attributable to its making or maintaining any Libor 
Rate hereunder or its obligation to make any such Libor Rate hereunder, or any 
reduction in any amount receivable by Lender under the Note in respect of any 
such rates or such obligation (such increases in costs and reductions in costs 
and reductions in amounts receivable being herein called "Additional Costs"), 
resulting from any change after the date of the Note in U. S. federal, state, 
municipal, or foreign laws or regulations (including Regulation D), or the 
adoption or making after such date of any interpretations, directives, or 
requirements applying to a class of banks including Lender of or under any U. S. 
federal, state, municipal, or any foreign laws or regulations (whether or not 
having the force of law) by any court or governmental or monetary authority 
charged with the interpretation or administration thereof ("Regulatory Change"), 
which: (1) changes the basis of taxation of any amounts payable to Lender under 
the Note in respect of any such Libor Rate (other than taxes imposed on the 
overall net income of the Lender); or (2) imposes or modifies any reserve, 
special deposit, compulsory loan, or similar requirements relating to any 
extensions of credit or other assets of, or any deposits with or other 
liabilities of Lender (including any such Libor Rate or any deposits referred to 
in the definition of any Libor Rate); or (3) imposes any other condition 
affecting this Note (or any of such extensions of credit or liabilities). Lender 
will notify the Borrower of any event occurring after the date of the Note which 
will entitle Lender to compensation pursuant to this paragraph as promptly as 
practicable after it obtains knowledge thereof and determines to request such 
compensation. Determinations by Lender for purposes of this paragraph of the 
effect of any Regulatory Change in its costs of making or maintaining Libor Rate 
or on amounts receivable by it in respect of Libor Rate, and of the additional 
amounts required to compensate Lender in respect of any Additional Costs, shall 
be presumed prima facie correct. 
 
5. In respect of any Libor Rate Amount, in the event that Lender shall have 
determined that dollar deposits of the relevant amount for the relevant Interest 
Period for such Libor Rate Amount are not available or that, by reason of 
circumstances affecting such market, adequate and reasonable means do not exist 
for ascertaining the Libor Rate applicable to such Interest Period in the manner 
provided in the definition of such term, as the case may be, Lender shall 
promptly give notice of such determination to the Borrower and (i) any notice of 
new Libor Rate Amounts (or conversion of existing Libor Rate Amounts or Variable 
Rate Amounts to Libor Rate Amounts) previously given by the Borrower and not yet 
borrowed (or  
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converted, as the case may be) shall be deemed a notice that such amounts shall 
bear interest at the Variable Interest Rate, and (ii) the Borrower shall be 
obligated either to prepay or to convert any outstanding Libor Rate Amounts on 
the last day of the then current Interest Period or Periods with respect 
thereto, as Borrower shall elect. 
 
6. If at any time any new law, treaty or regulation enacted after the date 
hereof, or any change after the date hereof in any existing law, treaty or 
regulation, or any interpretation thereof after the date hereof by any 
governmental or other regulatory authority charged with the administration 
thereof, shall make it unlawful for Lender to fund any Libor Rate Amounts which 
it is committed to make hereunder with moneys obtained in the London interbank 
market, the commitment of Lender to fund Libor Rate Amounts shall, upon the 
happening of such event forthwith be suspended for the duration of such 
illegality, and Lender shall by written notice to the Borrower declare that the 
commitment with respect to such loans has been so suspended and, if and when 
such illegality ceases to exist, such suspension shall cease and Lender shall 
similarly notify the Borrower. If any such change shall make it unlawful for 
Lender to continue in effect the funding in the applicable London interbank 
market of any Libor Rate Amount previously made by it hereunder, Lender shall, 
upon the happening of any such event, notify the Borrower in writing stating the 
reasons therefor, and the Borrower shall, on the earlier of (i) the last day of 
then current Interest Period or (ii) if required by such law, regulation or 
interpretation, on such date as shall be specified in such notice, either 
convert all Libor Rate Amounts to Variable Rate Amounts or prepay all Libor Rate 
Amounts to Lender in full, as Borrower shall elect. 
 
7. Notwithstanding any provision of the Note to the contrary, all accrued 
interest on each Libor Rate Amount shall be due and payable (i) monthly on the 
date in each month during the Interest Period which is the numerical equivalent 
of the first day of the Interest Period (or if no such date in any month, then 
on the last day of such month) and (ii) on the last day of the Interest Period. 
Interest on Variable Rate Amounts shall be due and payable monthly as provided 
in the Note. 
 
8. The paragraph of the Note having the caption "PREPAYMENT" is hereby deleted 
in its entirety and the following paragraph is hereby substituted in lieu 
thereof: 
 
PREPAYMENT. Borrower may prepay all or any portion of a Variable Rate Amount at 
any time without payment of premium or penalty. Borrower may prepay all or any 
portion of a Libor Rate Amount, provided that if Borrower makes any such 
prepayment other than on the last day of the Interest Period, Borrower shall pay 
all accrued interest on the principal amount prepaid with such prepayment and, 
on demand, shall reimburse Lender and hold Lender harmless from all losses and 
expenses incurred by Lender as a result of such prepayment, including, without 
limitation, any losses and expenses arising from the liquidation or reemployment 
of deposits acquired to fund or maintain the principal amount prepaid. Such 
reimbursement shall be calculated as though Lender funded the principal amount 
prepaid through the purchase of U.S. Dollar deposits in the London, England 
interbank market having a maturity corresponding to such Interest Period and 
bearing an interest rate equal to the Libor Rate for such Interest Period, 
whether in fact that is the case or not. Lender's determination of the amount of 
such reimbursement shall be conclusive in the absence of manifest error. 
 
9. Except as expressly modified by this Addendum, all of the terms and 
conditions of the Note continue unchanged and in full force and effect. 
 
Dated with effect as of the date of the Note. 
 
LENDER: 
 
BANK ONE, UTAH, NA 
 
By: /s/ Stephen A. Cazier     
    -------------------------------- 
           Stephen A. Cazier 
Its: Vice President 
 
BORROWER: 
 
GENTNER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 
 
By: /s/ Susie Strohm   
    ---------------------------------- 
    Susie Strohm 
Its: CFO 
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                                           LOAN AGREEMENT 
 
 
 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
    Principal      Loan Date    Maturity     Loan No    Call    Collateral   Account    Officer   Initials 
                                                                           
  $5,000,000.00    01-05-1999  12-22-2000              096501       326     8279584877   73609 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
References in the shaded area are for Lender's use only and do not limit the applicability of this  
document to any particular loan or item. 
- ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
Borrower: Gentner Communications Corporation, a Utah         Lender:    Bank One, Utah, NA 
          corporation                                        Commercial Banking 
          1825 Research Way                                  80 W. Broadway 
          Salt Lake City, UT  84119                          Salt Lake City, UT  84101 
========================================================================================================== 
 
 
 
THIS LOAN AGREEMENT between Gentner Communications Corporation, a Utah 
corporation ("Borrower") and Bank One, Utah, NA ("Lender") is made and executed 
as of January 5, 1999. This Agreement governs all loans, credit facilities 
and/or other financial accommodations described herein and, unless otherwise 
agreed to in writing by Lender and Borrower, all other present and future loans, 
credit facilities and other financial accommodations provided by Lender to 
Borrower. All such loans, credit facilities and other financial accommodations, 
together with all renewals, extensions and modifications thereof, are referred 
to in this Agreement individually as the "Loan" and collectively as the "Loans." 
Borrower understands and agrees that: (a) in granting, renewing, or extending 
any Loan, Lender is relying upon Borrower's representations, warranties, and 
agreements, as set forth in this Agreement; and (b) all such Loans shall be and 
shall remain subject to the following terms and conditions of this Agreement. 
 
TERM. This Agreement shall be effective as of January 5, 1999, and shall 
continue thereafter until all Loans and other obligations owing by Borrower to 
Lender hereunder have been paid in full and Lender has no commitments or 
obligations to make further Advances under the Loans to Borrower. 
 
DEFINITIONS. The following words shall have the following meanings when used in 
this Agreement. Terms not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the 
meanings attributed to such terms in the Uniform Commercial Code as adopted in 
the State of Utah. All references to dollar amounts shall mean amounts in lawful 
money of the United States of America. 
 
    Agreement. The word "Agreement" means this Loan Agreement, as may be amended 
    or modified from time to time, together with all exhibits and schedules 
    attached hereto from time to time. 
 
    Account. The word "Account" means a trade account receivable of Borrower for 
    goods sold or leased or for services rendered by Borrower in the ordinary 
    course of its business. 
 
    Account Debtor. The words "Account Debtor" mean the person or entity 
    obligated upon an Account. 
 
    Advance. The word "Advance" means any advance or other disbursement of Loan 
    proceeds under this Agreement. 
 
    Borrower. The word "Borrower" means Gentner Communications Corporation, a 
    Utah corporation. 
 
    Borrowing Base. The words "Borrowing Base" mean the sum of (i) 75.000% of 
    the aggregate amount of Eligible Accounts, plus (ii) 45.000% of the 
    aggregate amount of Eligible Inventory. 
 
    Collateral. The word "Collateral" means and includes without limitation all 
    property and assets granted as collateral for any Loan, whether real or 
    personal property, whether granted directly or indirectly, whether granted 
    now or in the future, and whether granted in the form of a security 
    interest, mortgage, deed of trust, assignment, pledge, chattel mortgage, 
    chattel trust, factor's lien, equipment trust, conditional sale, trust 
    receipt, lien, charge, lien or title retention contract, lease or 
    consignment intended as a security device, or any other security or lien 
    interest whatsoever, whether created by law, contract, or otherwise. 
 
    Committed Sum. The words "Committed Sum" mean an amount equal to 



    $5,000,000.00. 
 
    Eligible Accounts. The words "Eligible Accounts" mean, at any time, all of 
    Borrower's Accounts which contain terms and conditions acceptable to Lender 
    and in which Lender has a first lien security interest, less the amount of 
    all returns, discounts, credits, and offsets of any nature; provided, 
    however, unless otherwise agreed to by Lender in writing, Eligible Accounts 
    do not include: 
 
        (a) Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor is an officer, an 
        employee or agent of Borrower and to which the Account Debtor is a 
        subsidiary of, or affiliated with or related to Borrower or its 
        shareholders, officers, or directors. 
 
        (b) All Accounts with respect to which Borrower has furnished a payment 
        and/or performance bond and that portion of any Accounts for or 
        representing retainage, if any, until all prerequisites to the immediate 
        payment of such retainage have been satisfied. 
 
        (c) Accounts with respect to which goods are placed on consignment or 
        subject to a guaranteed sale or other terms by reason of which the 
        payment by the Account Debtor may be conditional. 
 
        (d) Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor is not a resident 
        of, or whose principal place of business is located outside of, the 
        United States or its territories, except to the extent such Accounts are 
        supported by insurance, bonds or other assurances satisfactory to Lender 
        in its sole and absolute discretion. 
 
        (e) Accounts with respect to which Borrower is or may become liable to 
        the Account Debtor for goods sold or services rendered by the Account 
        Debtor to Borrower. 
 
        (f) Accounts which are subject to dispute, counterclaim, or setoff. 
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        (g) Accounts with respect to which all goods have not been shipped or 
        delivered, or all services have not been rendered, to the Account 
        Debtor. 
 
        (h) Accounts with respect to which Lender, in its sole discretion, deems 
        the creditworthiness or financial condition of the Account Debtor to be 
        unsatisfactory. 
 
        (i) Accounts of any Account Debtor who has filed or has had filed 
        against it a petition in bankruptcy or an application for relief under 
        any provision of any state or federal bankruptcy, insolvency, or 
        debtor-in-relief acts; or who has had appointed a trustee, custodian, or 
        receiver for the assets of such Account Debtor; or who has made an 
        assignment for the benefit of creditors or has become insolvent or fails 
        generally to pay its debts (including its payrolls) as such debts become 
        due. 
 
        (j) Accounts with respect to which the Account Debtor is the United 
        States government or any department or agency of the United States, 
        except to the extent an acknowledgement of assignment to Lender of any 
        such Accounts in compliance with the Federal Assignment of Claims Act 
        and other applicable laws has been received by Lender. 
 
        Eligible Inventory. The words "Eligible Inventory" mean, at any time, 
        the aggregate value of all of Borrower's Inventory as defined below 
        except: 
 
        (a) Inventory which is not owned by Borrower free and clear of all 
        security interests, liens, encumbrances, and claims of third parties, 
        except Lender's security interest. 
 
        (b) Inventory which Lender, in its sole and absolute discretion, deems 
        to be obsolete, unsalable, damaged, defective, or unfit for further 
        processing. 
 
        (c) Inventory which has been returned or rejected. 
 
        (d) Inventory which is held by others on consignment, sale on approval 
        or otherwise not in Borrower's physical possession, except upon the 
        written consent of Lender. 
 
        (e) Inventory located outside the United States. 
 
        For purposes of this Agreement, Eligible Inventory shall be valued at 
the lower of cost or market value. 
 
ERISA. The word "ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 
1974, as amended. 
 
Grantor. The word "Grantor" means and includes each and all of the persons or 
entities granting a Security Interest in any Collateral for any of the Loans. 
 
Guarantor. The word "Guarantor" means and includes without limitation, each and 
all of the guarantors, sureties, and accommodation parties for any of the Loans. 
 
Indebtedness. The word "Indebtedness" means the indebtedness evidenced by the 
Note, including all principal and accrued interest thereon, together with all 
other liabilities, costs and expenses for which Borrower is responsible under 
this Agreement or under any of the Related Documents. In addition, the word 
"indebtedness" includes all other obligations, debts and liabilities, plus any 
accrued interest thereon, owing by Borrower, or any one or more of them, to 
Lender of any kind or character, now existing or hereafter arising, as well as 
all present and future claims by Lender against Borrower, or any one or more of 
them, and all renewals, extensions, modifications, substitutions and 
rearrangements of any of the foregoing; whether such Indebtedness arises by 
note, draft, acceptance, guaranty, endorsement, letter of credit, assignment, 
overdraft, indemnity agreement or otherwise; whether such Indebtedness is 
voluntary or involuntary, due or not due, direct or indirect, absolute or 
contingent, liquidated or unliquidated; whether Borrower may be liable 
individually or jointly with others; whether Borrower may be liable primarily br 
secondarily or as debtor, maker, comaker, drawer, endorser, guarantor, surety, 
accommodation party or otherwise. 
 
Inventory. The word "Inventory" means all raw materials and all tangible 
personal property, goods, merchandise and other personal property now owned or 
hereafter acquired by Borrower which is held for sale or lease in the ordinary 
course of Borrower's business, excluding all work in progress, spare parts, 
packaging materials, supplies and any advertising costs capitalized into 
inventory. 
 



Lender. The word "Lender" means Bank One, Utah, NA, its successors and assigns. 
 
Line of Credit. The words "Line of Credit" mean the credit facility described in 
the Section titled "LINE OF CREDIT" below. 
 
Note. The word "Note" means any and all promissory note or notes which evidence 
Borrower's Loans in favor of Lender, as well as any amendment, modification, 
renewal or replacement thereof. 
 
Permitted Liens. The words "Permitted Liens" mean: (a) liens and security 
interests securing Indebtedness owed by Borrower to Lender; (b) liens for taxes, 
assessments, or similar charges either (i) not yet due, or (ii) being contested 
in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which Borrower has established 
adequate reserves; (c) purchase money liens or purchase money security interests 
upon or in any property acquired or held by Borrower in the ordinary course of 
business to secure any indebtedness permitted under this Agreement; and (d) 
liens and security interests which, as of the date of this Agreement, have been 
disclosed to and approved by the Lender in writing. 
 
Related Documents. The words "Related Documents" mean and include without 
limitation the Note and all credit agreements, loan agreements, environmental 
agreements, guaranties, security agreements, mortgages, deeds of trust, and all 
other instruments, agreements and documents, whether now or hereafter existing, 
executed in connection with the Note. 
 
Security Agreement. The words "Security Agreement" mean and include without 
limitation any agreements, promises, covenants, arrangements, understandings or 
other agreements, whether created by law, contract, or otherwise, evidencing, 
governing, representing, or creating a Security Interest.  
 
 
                                       22 



   9 
 
    Security Interest. The words "Security Interest" mean and include without 
    limitation any type of security interest, whether in the form of a lien, 
    charge, mortgage, deed of trust, assignment, pledge, chattel mortgage, 
    chattel trust, factor's lien, equipment trust, conditional sale, trust 
    receipt, lien or title retention contract, lease or consignment intended as 
    a security device, or any other security or lien interest whatsoever, 
    whether created by law, contract, or otherwise. 
 
LINE OF CREDIT. Subject to the other terms and conditions herein, Lender hereby 
establishes a Line of Credit for Borrower through which Lender agrees to make 
advances to Borrower from time to time from the effective date of this Agreement 
until the maturity date of the Note evidencing the Line of Credit, provided the 
aggregate amount of such advances outstanding at any time does not exceed the 
lesser of the amount equal to the Borrowing Base or an amount equal to the 
Committed Sum. Within the foregoing limits, Borrower may borrow, partially or 
wholly prepay, and reborrow under this Agreement. 
 
    Borrowing Base Compliance. If at any time the aggregate principal amount 
    outstanding under the Line of Credit shall exceed the applicable Borrowing 
    Base, Borrower shall pay to Lender an amount equal to the difference between 
    the outstanding principal balance under the Line of Credit and the Borrowing 
    Base. 
 
    Representations and Warranties Concerning Accounts. With respect to the 
    Accounts, Borrower represents and warrants to Lender: (a) Each Account 
    represented by Borrower to be an Eligible Account for purposes of this 
    Agreement conforms to the requirements of the definition of an Eligible 
    Account; and (b) All Account information listed on reports and schedules 
    delivered to Lender will be true and correct, subject to immaterial 
    variance. 
 
    Representations and Warranties Concerning Inventory. With respect to the 
    Inventory, Borrower represents and warrants to Lender: (a) All Inventory 
    represented by Borrower to be Eligible Inventory for purposes of this 
    Agreement conforms to the requirements of the definition of Eligible 
    Inventory; (b) All Inventory values listed on schedules delivered to Lender 
    will be true and correct, subject to immaterial variance; (c) The value of 
    the Inventory will be determined on a consistent accounting basis; (d) 
    Except as reflected in the Inventory schedules delivered to Lender, all 
    Eligible Inventory is now and at all times hereafter will be of good and 
    merchantable quality, free from defects; and (e) Lender, its assigns, or 
    agents shall have the right at any time and at Borrower's expense to inspect 
    and examine the Inventory and to check and test the same as to quality, 
    quantity, value, and condition. 
 
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. Borrower represents and warrants to Lender, as 
of the date of this Agreement, as of the date of each request for an Advance, as 
of the date of any renewal, extension or modification of any Loan, and at all 
times any Loans or Lender's commitment to make Loans hereunder is outstanding: 
 
    Organization. Borrower is a corporation which is duly organized, validly 
    existing, and in good standing under the laws of the State of Utah and is 
    duly qualified and in good standing in all other states in which Borrower is 
    doing business. Borrower has the full power and authority to own its 
    properties and to transact the businesses in which it is presently engaged 
    or presently proposes to engage. 
 
    Authorization. The execution, delivery, and performance of this Agreement 
    and all Related Documents to which Borrower is a party have been duly 
    authorized by all necessary action by Borrower; do not require the consent 
    or approval of any other person, regulatory authority or governmental body; 
    and do not conflict with, result in a violation of, or constitute a default 
    under (a) any provision of its articles of incorporation or organization, or 
    bylaws, or any agreement or other instrument binding upon Borrower or (b) 
    any law, governmental regulation, court decree, or order applicable to 
    Borrower. Borrower has all requisite power and authority to execute and 
    deliver this Agreement and all other Related Documents to which Borrower is 
    a party. 
 
        Financial Information. Each financial statement of Borrower supplied to 
Lender truly and completely discloses Borrower's financial condition as of the 
date of the statement, and there has been no material adverse change in 
Borrower's financial condition subsequent to the date of the most recent 
financial statement supplied to Lender. Borrower has no material contingent 
obligations except as disclosed in such financial statements. 
 
    Legal Effect. This Agreement and all other Related Documents to which 
    Borrower is a party constitute legal, valid and binding obligations of 
    Borrower enforceable against Borrower in accordance with their respective 
    terms, except as limited by bankruptcy, insolvency or similar laws of 



    general application relating to the enforcement of creditors' rights and 
    except to the extent specific remedies may generally be limited by equitable 
    principles. 
 
    Properties. Except for Permitted Liens, Borrower is the sole owner of, and 
    has good title to, all of Borrower's properties free and clear of all 
    Security Interests, and has not executed any security documents or financing 
    statements relating to such properties. All of Borrower's properties are 
    titled in Borrower's legal name, and Borrower has not used, or filed a 
    financing statement under, any other name for at least the last six (6) 
    years. 
 
    Compliance. Except as disclosed in writing to Lender (a) Borrower is 
    conducting Borrower's businesses in material compliance with all applicable 
    federal, state and local laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, 
    orders, determinations and court decisions, including without limitation, 
    those pertaining to health or environmental matters, and (b) Borrower 
    otherwise does not have any known material contingent liability in 
    connection with the release into the environment, disposal or the improper 
    storage of any toxic or hazardous substance or solid waste. 
 
    Litigation and Claims. No litigation, claim, investigation, administrative 
    proceeding or similar action (including those for unpaid taxes) against 
    Borrower is pending or threatened, and no other event has occurred which may 
    in any one case or in the aggregate materially adversely affect Borrower's 
    financial condition or properties, other than litigation, claims, or other 
    events, if any, that have been disclosed to and acknowledged by Lender in 
    writing. 
 
    Taxes. All tax returns and reports of Borrower that are or were required to 
    be filed, have been filed, and all taxes, assessments and other governmental 
    charges have been paid in full, except those that have been disclosed in 
    writing to Lender which are presently being or to be contested by Borrower 
    in good faith in the ordinary course of business and for which adequate 
    reserves have been provided. 
 
    Lien Priority. Unless otherwise previously disclosed to and approved by 
    Lender in writing, Borrower has not entered into any Security Agreements, 
    granted a Security Interest or permitted the filing or attachment of any 
    Security Interests on or affecting any of the Collateral, except in favor of 
    Lender. 
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    Licenses, Trademarks and Patents. Borrower possesses and will continue to 
    possess all permits, licenses, trademarks, patents and rights thereto which 
    are needed to conduct Borrower's business and Borrower's business does not 
    conflict with or violate any valid rights of others with respect to the 
    foregoing. 
 
    Commercial Purposes. Borrower intends to use the Loan proceeds solely for 
    business or commercial related purposes approved by Lender and such proceeds 
    will not be used for the purchasing or carrying of "margin stock" as defined 
    in Regulation U issued by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve 
    System. 
 
    Ineligible Securities. No portion or any advance or Loan made hereunder 
    shall be used directly or indirectly to purchase ineligible securities, as 
    defined by applicable regulations of the Federal Reserve Board, underwritten 
    by Lender or any other affiliate of Banc One Corporation during the 
    underwriting period and for 30 days thereafter. 
 
    Employee Benefit Plans. Each employee benefit plan as to which Borrower may 
    have any liability complies in all material respects with all applicable 
    requirements of law and regulations, and (i) no Reportable Event nor 
    Prohibited Transaction (as defined in ERISA) has occurred with respect to 
    any such plan, (ii) Borrower has not withdrawn from any such plan or 
    initiated steps to do so, (iii) no steps have been taken to terminate any 
    such plan, and (iv) there are no unfunded liabilities other than those 
    previously disclosed to Lender in writing. 
 
    Location of Borrower's Offices and Records. Borrower's place of business, or 
    Borrower's chief executive office if Borrower has more than one place of 
    business, is located at 1825 Research Way, Salt Lake City, UT 84119. Unless 
    Borrower has designated otherwise in writing this location is also the 
    office or offices where Borrower keeps its records concerning the 
    Collateral. 
 
    Information. All information heretofore or contemporaneously herewith 
    furnished by Borrower to Lender for the purposes of or in connection with 
    this Agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby is, and all 
    information hereafter furnished by or on behalf of Borrower to Lender will 
    be, true and accurate in every material respect on the date as of which such 
    information is dated or certified; and none of such information is or will 
    be incomplete by omitting to state any material fact necessary to make such 
    information not misleading. 
 
    Survival of Representations and Warranties. Borrower understands and agrees 
    that Lender, without independent investigation, is relying upon the above 
    representations and warranties in extending the Loans to Borrower. Borrower 
    further agrees that the foregoing representations and warranties shall be 
    continuing in nature and shall remain in full force and effect during the 
    term of this Agreement. 
 
AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS. Borrower covenants and agrees with Lender that, while 
this Agreement is in effect, Borrower will: 
 
    Depository Relationship. Establish and maintain its primary operating 
    account(s) with Lender. 
 
    Litigation: Promptly inform Lender in writing of (a) all material adverse 
    changes in Borrower's financial condition, (b) all existing and all 
    threatened litigation, claims, investigations, administrative proceedings or 
    similar actions affecting Borrower or any Guarantor which could materially 
    affect the financial condition of Borrower or the financial condition of any 
    Guarantor, and (c) the creation, occurrence or assumption by Borrower of any 
    actual or contingent liabilities not permitted under this Agreement. 
 
    Financial Records. Maintain its books and records in accordance with 
    generally accepted accounting principles, applied on a consistent basis, and 
    permit Lender to examine, audit and make and take away copies or 
    reproductions of Borrower's books and records at all reasonable times. If 
    Borrower now or at any time hereafter maintains any records (including 
    without limitation computer generated records and computer software programs 
    for the generation of such records) in the possession of a third party, 
    Borrower, upon request of Lender, shall notify such party to permit Lender 
    free access to such records at all reasonable times and to provide Lender 
    with copies of any records it may request, all at Borrower's expense. 
 
    Additional Information. Furnish such additional information and statements, 
    lists of assets and liabilities, agings of receivables and payables, 
    inventory schedules, budgets, forecasts, tax returns, and other reports with 
    respect to Borrower's financial condition and business operations as Lender 
    may request from time to time. 



 
    Insurance. Maintain fire and other risk insurance, public liability 
    insurance, and such other insurance as Lender may require with respect to 
    Borrower's properties and operations, in form, amounts, coverages and with 
    insurance companies reasonably acceptable to Lender. Borrower, upon request 
    of Lender, will deliver to Lender from time to time the policies or 
    certificates of insurance in form satisfactory to Lender, including 
    stipulations that coverages will not be cancelled or diminished without at 
    least thirty (30) days' prior written notice to Lender. In connection with 
    all policies covering assets in which Lender holds or is offered a Security 
    Interest for the Loans, Borrower will provide Lender with such loss payable 
    or other endorsements as Lender may require. 
 
    Insurance Reports. Furnish to Lender, upon request of Lender, reports on 
    each existing insurance policy showing such information as Lender may 
    reasonably request, including without limitation the following: (a) the name 
    of the insurer; (b) the risks insured; (c) the amount of the policy; (d) the 
    properties insured; (e) the then current property values on the basis of 
    which insurance has been obtained, and the manner of determining those 
    values: and (f) the expiration date of the policy. 
 
    Other Agreements. Comply with all terms and conditions of all other 
    agreements, whether now or hereafter existing, between Borrower and any 
    other party and notify Lender immediately in writing of any default in 
    connection with any other such agreements. 
 
    Loan Fees and Charges. In addition to all other agreed upon fees and 
    charges, pay the following: Origination Fee $12,500.00 and Documentation Fee 
    $250.00. 
 
    Loan Proceeds. Use all Loan proceeds solely for Borrower's business 
    operations, unless specifically consented to the contrary by Lender in 
    writing. 
 
    Taxes, Charges and Liens. Pay and discharge when due all of its indebtedness 
    and obligations, including without limitation all assessments, taxes, 
    governmental charges, levies and liens, of every kind and nature, imposed 
    upon Borrower or its properties, income, or profits, prior to the date on 
    which penalties would attach, and all lawful claims that, if unpaid, might 
    become a lien or charge upon any of Borrower's properties, income, or 
    profits; provided however, Borrower will not be required to pay and 
    discharge any such assessment, tax, charge, levy,  
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    lien or claim so long as (a) the legality of the same shall be contested in 
    good faith by appropriate proceedings, and (b) Borrower shall have 
    established on its books adequate reserves with respect to such contested 
    assessment, tax, charge, levy, lien, or claim in accordance with generally 
    accepted accounting principles. Borrower, upon demand of Lender, will 
    furnish to Lender evidence of payment of the assessments, taxes, charges, 
    levies, liens and claims and will authorize the appropriate governmental 
    official to deliver to Lender at any time a written statement of any 
    assessments, taxes, charges, levies, liens and claims against Borrower's 
    properties, income, or profits. 
 
    Performance. Perform and comply with all terms, conditions, and provisions 
    set forth in this Agreement and in the Related Documents in a timely manner, 
    and promptly notify Lender if Borrower learns of the occurrence of any event 
    which constitutes an Event of Default under this Agreement or under any of 
    the Related Documents. 
 
    Operations. Conduct its business affairs in a reasonable and prudent manner 
    and in compliance with all applicable federal, state and municipal laws, 
    ordinances, rules and regulations respecting its properties, charters, 
    businesses and operations, including without limitation, compliance with the 
    Americans With Disabilities Act, all applicable environmental statutes, 
    rules, regulations and ordinances and with all minimum funding standards and 
    other requirements of ERISA and other laws applicable to Borrower's employee 
    benefit plans. 
 
    Compliance Certificate. Unless waived in writing by Lender, provide Lender 
    30 days after each quarter with a certificate executed by Borrower's chief 
    financial officer, or other officer or person acceptable to Lender, (a) 
    certifying that the representations and warranties set forth in this 
    Agreement are true and correct as of the date of the certificate and that, 
    as of the date of the certificate, no Event of Default exists under this 
    Agreement, and (b) demonstrating compliance with all financial covenants set 
    forth in this Agreement. 
 
    Environmental Compliance and Reports. Borrower shall comply in all respects 
    with all federal, state and local environmental laws, statutes, regulations 
    and ordinances; not cause or permit to exist, as a result of an intentional 
    or unintentional action or omission on its part or on the part of any third 
    party, on property owned and/or occupied by Borrower, any environmental 
    activity where damage may result to the environment, unless such 
    environmental activity is pursuant to and in compliance with the conditions 
    of a permit issued by the appropriate federal, state or local governmental 
    authorities; and furnish to Lender promptly and in any event within thirty 
    (30) days after receipt thereof a copy of any notice, summons, lien, 
    citation, directive, letter or other communication from any governmental 
    agency or instrumentality concerning any intentional or unintentional action 
    or omission on Borrower's part in connection with any environmental activity 
    whether or not there is damage to the environment and/or other natural 
    resources. 
 
    Borrowing Base Certificate. Contemporaneously with each request for an 
    Advance under the Line of Credit, Borrower shall deliver to Lender a 
    borrowing base certificate, in form and detail satisfactory to Lender, along 
    with such supporting documentation as Lender may request, including without 
    limitation, an accounts receivable aging report and/or a list or schedule of 
    Borrower's accounts receivable, inventory and/or equipment. 
 
    Additional Assurances. Make, execute and deliver to Lender such promissory 
    notes, mortgages, deeds of trust, security agreements, financing statements, 
    instruments, documents and other agreements as Lender or its attorneys may 
    reasonably request to evidence and secure the Loans and to perfect all 
    Security Interests. 
 
NEGATIVE COVENANTS. Borrower covenants and agrees with Lender that while this 
Agreement is in effect, Borrower shall not, without the prior written consent of 
Lender: 
 
    Maintain Basic Business. Engage in any business activities substantially 
    different than those in which Borrower is presently engaged. 
 
    Continuity of Operations. Cease operations, liquidate, dissolve or merge or 
    consolidate with or into any other entity. 
 
    Indebtedness. Create, incur or assume additional indebtedness for borrowed 
    money, including capital leases, or guarantee any indebtedness owing by 
    others, other than (a) current unsecured trade debt incurred in the ordinary 
    course of business, (b) indebtedness owing to Lender, (c) borrowings 
    outstanding as of the date hereof and disclosed to Lender in writing, and 
    (d) any borrowings otherwise approved by Lender in writing. 
 



    Liens. Mortgage, assign, pledge, grant a security interest in or otherwise 
    encumber Borrower's assets, except as allowed as a Permitted Lien. 
 
    Transfer of Assets. Transfer, sell or otherwise dispose of any of Borrower's 
    assets other than in the ordinary course of business. 
 
    Change in Management. Permit a change in the senior executive or management 
    personnel of Borrower. 
 
    Transfer of Ownership. Permit the sale, pledge or other transfer of any 
    ownership interest in Borrower. 
 
    Dividends. Pay any dividends on Borrower's capital stock or purchase, 
    redeem, retire or otherwise acquire any of Borrower's capital stock or alter 
    or amend Borrower's capital structure. 
 
CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO ADVANCES. Lender's obligation to make any Advances or to 
provide any other financial accommodations to or for the benefit of Borrower 
hereunder shall be subject to the conditions precedent that as of the date of 
such advance or disbursement and after giving effect thereto (a) all 
representations and warranties made to Lender in this Agreement and the Related 
Documents shall be true and correct as of and as if made on such date, (b) no 
material adverse change in the financial condition of Borrower or any Guarantor 
since the effective date of the most recent financial statements furnished to 
Lender, or in the value of any Collateral, shall have occurred and be 
continuing, (c) no event has occurred and is continuing, or would result from 
the requested advance or disbursement, which with notice or lapse of time, or 
both, would constitute an Event of Default, (d) no Guarantor has sought, claimed 
or otherwise attempted to limit, modify or revoke such Guarantor's guaranty of 
any Loan, and (e) Lender has received all Related Documents appropriately 
executed by Borrower and all other proper parties. 
 
ADDITIONAL AFFIRMATIVE COVENANT - TANGIBLE NET WORTH RATIO. Borrower further 
covenants and agrees with Lender that, while this Agreement is in effect, 
Borrower will comply at all times with the following ratio: Maintain at all 
times, Tangible Net Worth in excess of 55% of total assets. 
 
ADDITIONAL AFFIRMATIVE COVENANT - DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE. Borrower further 
covenants and agrees with Lender that, while this Agreement is in effect, 
Borrower will comply at all times with the following ratio: Maintain at all 
times a ratio (a) net income, after taxes, plus  
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depreciation, amortization and depletion, less any Distributions, for the twelve 
month period then ending, to (b) current maturities of long-term debt plus 
current maturities of capital leases for the following twelve month period, of 
not less than 2.5 to 1.00. 
 
For purposes of this Agreement and to the extent the following terms are 
utilized in this Agreement: The term "Tangible Net Worth" shall mean borrower's 
total assets excluding all intangible assets (including, without limitation, 
goodwill, trademarks, patents, copyrights, organization expenses, and similar 
intangible items) less total liabilities excluding Subordinated Debt. The term 
"Subordinated Debt" shall mean all indebtedness owing by Borrower which has been 
subordinated by written agreement to all indebtedness now or hereafter owing by 
Borrower to Lender, such agreement to be in form and substance acceptable to 
Lender. The term "Working Capital: shall mean Borrower's liquid Assets plus 
inventory, less current liabilities. The term "Liquid Assets", shall mean 
borrower's unencumbered cash, marketable securities and accounts receivable net 
of reserves. The term "Adjusted Net Income" means earnings before interest, 
taxes, depreciation and amortization, plus lease expense, and depletion, less 
any distributions. The term "Distributions", shall mean all dividends and other 
distributions made by borrower to its shareholders, partners, owners or members, 
as the case may be, other than salary, bonuses and other compensation for 
services expended in the current accounting period. The term "Fixed Charges" 
mean interest expense plus lease expense, current maturities of long-term debt 
and current maturities of capital leases. The term "Cash Flow" shall mean net 
income after taxes, and exclusive of extraordinary items, plus depreciation and 
amortization. Except as provided above, all computations made to determine 
compliance with the requirements contained in this paragraph shall be made in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, applied on a 
consistent basis, and certified by Borrower as being true and correct. 
 
ADDITIONAL NEGATIVE COVENANT - INDEBTEDNESS. Borrower further covenants and 
agrees with Lender that while this Agreement is in effect Borrower shall not, 
without the prior written consent of Lender, create, incur or assume additional 
indebtedness for borrowed money, including capital leases, or guaranty any 
indebtedness owing by others, other than (A) current unsecured trade debt 
incurred in the ordinary course of business, (B) indebtedness owing to Lender, 
(C) borrowings outstanding as of the date hereof and disclosed to Lender in 
writing, (D) capital lease indebtedness of up to $1,000,000.00, in the aggregate 
per Fiscal year. 
 
ADDENDUM. An addendum, titled "ADDENDUM", is attached to this document and by 
this reference is made a part of this document just as if all the provisions, 
terms and conditions of the ADDENDUM had been fully set forth in this document. 
 
RIGHT OF SETOFF. Unless a lien would be prohibited by law or would render a 
nontaxable account taxable, Borrower grants to Lender a contractual security 
interest in, and hereby assigns, conveys, delivers, pledges, and transfers to 
Lender all Borrower's right, title and interest in and to, Borrower's accounts 
with Lender (whether checking, savings, or any other account), including without 
limitation all accounts held jointly with someone else and all accounts Borrower 
may open in the future. Borrower authorizes Lender, to the extent permitted by 
applicable law, to charge or setoff all sums owing on the Indebtedness against 
any and all such accounts. 
 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT. Each of the following shall constitute an Event of Default 
under this Agreement: 
 
    Default on Indebtedness. Failure of Borrower to make any payment when due on 
    any of the Indebtedness. 
 
    Other Defaults. Failure of Borrower, any Guarantor or any Grantor to comply 
    with or to perform when due any other term, obligation, covenant or 
    condition contained in this Agreement, the Note or in any of the other 
    Related Documents, or failure of Borrower to comply with or to perform any 
    other term, obligation, covenant or condition contained in any other 
    agreement now existing or hereafter arising between Lender and Borrower. 
 
    False Statements. Any warranty, representation or statement made or 
    furnished to Lender under this Agreement or the Related Documents is false 
    or misleading in any material respect. 
 
    Default to Third Party. The occurrence of any event which permits the 
    acceleration of the maturity of any indebtedness owing by Borrower, Grantor 
    or any Guarantor to any third party under any agreement or undertaking. 
 
    Bankruptcy or Insolvency. If the Borrower, Grantor or any Guarantor: (i) 
    becomes insolvent, or makes a transfer in fraud of creditors, or makes an 
    assignment for the benefit of creditors, or admits in writing its inability 
    to pay its debts as they become due; (ii) generally is not paying its debts 
    as such debts become due; (iii) has a receiver, trustee or custodian 



    appointed for, or take possession of, all or substantially all of the assets 
    of such party or any of the Collateral, either in a proceeding brought by 
    such party or in a proceeding brought against such party and such 
    appointment is not discharged or such possession is not terminated within 
    sixty (60) days after the effective date thereof or such party consents to 
    or acquiesces in such appointment or possession; (iv) files a petition for 
    relief under the United States Bankruptcy Code or any other present or 
    future federal or state insolvency, bankruptcy or similar laws (all of the 
    foregoing hereinafter collectively called "Applicable Bankruptcy Law") or an 
    involuntary petition for relief is filed against such party under any 
    Applicable Bankruptcy Law and such involuntary petition is not dismissed 
    within sixty (60) days after the filing thereof, or an order for relief 
    naming such party is entered under any Applicable Bankruptcy Law, or any 
    composition, rearrangement, extension, reorganization or other relief of 
    debtors now or hereafter existing is requested or consented to by such 
    party; (v) fails to have discharged within a period of sixty (60) days any 
    attachment, sequestration or similar writ levied upon any property of such 
    party; or (vi) fails to pay within thirty (30) days any final money judgment 
    against such party. 
 
    Liquidation, Death and Related Events. If Borrower, Grantor or any Guarantor 
    is an entity, the liquidation, dissolution, merger or consolidation of any 
    such entity or, if any of such parties is an individual, the death or legal 
    incapacity of any such individual. 
 
    Creditor or Forfeiture Proceedings. Commencement of foreclosure or 
    forfeiture proceedings, whether by judicial proceeding, self-help, 
    repossession or any other method, by any creditor of Borrower, any creditor 
    of any Grantor against any collateral securing the Indebtedness, or by any 
    governmental agency. 
 
EFFECT OF AN EVENT OF DEFAULT. If any Event of Default shall occur, Lender may, 
at its option, without further notice or demand, (a) terminate all commitments 
and obligations of Lender to make Loans to Borrower, if any, (b) declare all 
Loans and any other Indebtedness immediately due and payable, (c) refuse to 
advance any additional amounts under the Note or to provide any other financial 
accommodations under this Agreement, or (d) exercise all the rights and remedies 
provided in the Note or in any of the Related Documents or available at law, in 
equity, or otherwise; provided, however, if any Event of Default of the type 
described in the "Bankruptcy or Insolvency" subsection above shall occur, all 
Loans and any other Indebtedness shall automatically become due and payable, 
without any notice, demand or action by Lender. Except as may be prohibited by 
applicable law, all of Lender's rights and remedies shall be cumulative and may 
be exercised singularly or concurrently. Election by Lender to pursue any remedy 
shall not exclude pursuit of any other remedy, and an election to make 
expenditures or to take action to perform an obligation of Borrower or of any 
Grantor shall not affect Lender's right to declare a default and to exercise its 
rights and remedies. 
 
 
                                       26 



   13 
 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 
 
    Amendments. This Agreement, together with any Related Documents, constitutes 
    the entire understanding and agreement of the parties as to the matters set 
    forth in this Agreement. No alteration of or amendment to this Agreement 
    shall be effective unless given in writing and signed by the party or 
    parties sought to be charged or bound by the alteration or amendment. 
 
    Applicable Law. This Agreement has been delivered to Lender and accepted by 
    Lender in the State of Utah. Subject to the provisions on arbitration, this 
    Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of 
    the State of Utah without regard to any conflict of laws or provisions 
    thereof. 
 
    JURY WAIVER. THE UNDERSlGNED AND LENDER (BY ITS ACCEPTANCE HEREOF) HEREBY 
    VOLUNTARILY, KNOWINGLY, IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO 
    HAVE A JURY PARTICIPATE IN RESOLVING ANY DISPUTE (WHETHER BASED UPON 
    CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) BETWEEN OR AMONG THE UNDERSIGNED AND LENDER 
    ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY RELATED TO THIS DOCUMENT, AND ANY OTHER RELATED 
    DOCUMENT, OR ANY RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN LENDER AND THE BORROWER. THIS 
    PROVISION IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT TO LENDER TO PROVIDE THE FINANCING 
    DESCRIBED HEREIN OR IN THE OTHER RELATED DOCUMENTS. 
 
    ARBITRATION. Lender and Borrower agree that upon the written demand of 
    either party, whether made before or after the institution of any legal 
    proceedings, but prior to the rendering of any judgment in that proceeding, 
    all disputes, claims and controversies between them, whether individual, 
    joint, or class in nature, arising from this Agreement, any Related Document 
    or otherwise, including without limitation contract disputes and tort 
    claims, shall be resolved by binding arbitration pursuant to the Commercial 
    Rules of the American Arbitration Association ("AAA"). Any arbitration 
    proceeding held pursuant to this arbitration provision shall be conducted in 
    the city nearest the Borrower's address having an AAA regional office, or at 
    any other place selected by mutual agreement of the parties. No act to take 
    or dispose of any Collateral shall constitute a waiver of this arbitration 
    agreement or be prohibited by this arbitration agreement. This arbitration 
    provision shall not limit the right of either party during any dispute, 
    claim or controversy to seek, use, and employ ancillary, or preliminary 
    rights and/or remedies, judicial or otherwise, for the purposes of realizing 
    upon, preserving, protecting, foreclosing upon or proceeding under forcible 
    entry and detainer for possession of, any real or personal property, and any 
    such action shall not be deemed an election of remedies. Such remedies 
    include, without limitation, obtaining injunctive relief or a temporary 
    restraining order, invoking a power of sale under any deed of trust or 
    mortgage, obtaining a writ of attachment or imposition of a receivership, or 
    exercising any rights relating to personal property, including exercising 
    the right of set-off, or taking or disposing of such property with or 
    without judicial process pursuant to the Uniform Commercial Code. Any 
    disputes, claims, or controversies concerning the lawfulness or 
    reasonableness of an act, or exercise of any right or remedy, concerning any 
    Collateral, including any claim to rescind, reform, or otherwise modify any 
    agreement relating to the Collateral, shall also be arbitrated; provided, 
    however that no arbitrator shall have the right or the power to enjoin or 
    restrain any act of either party. Judgment upon any award rendered by any 
    arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. The statute of 
    limitations, estoppel, waiver, laches and similar doctrines which would 
    otherwise be applicable in an action brought by a party shall be applicable 
    in any arbitration proceeding, and the commencement of an arbitration 
    proceeding shall be deemed the commencement of any action for these 
    purposes. The Federal Arbitration Act (Title 9 of the United States Code) 
    shall apply to the construction, interpretation, and enforcement of this 
    arbitration provision. 
 
    Caption Headings. Caption headings in this Agreement are for convenience 
    purposes only and are not to be used to interpret or define the provisions 
    of this Agreement. 
 
    Consent to Loan Participation. Borrower agrees and consents to Lender's sale 
    or transfer, whether now or later, of one or more participation interests in 
    the Loans to one or more purchasers, whether related or unrelated to Lender. 
    Lender may provide, without any limitation whatsoever, to any one or more 
    purchasers, or potential purchasers, any information or knowledge Lender may 
    have about Borrower or about any other matter relating to the Loan, and 
    Borrower hereby waives any rights to privacy it may have with respect to 
    such matters. Borrower additionally waives any and all notices of sale of 
    participation interests, as well as all notices of any repurchase of such 
    participation interests. 
 
    Costs and Expenses. Borrower agrees to pay upon demand all of Lender's 
    expenses, including reasonable attorneys' fees, incurred in connection with 



    the preparation, execution, enforcement, modification and collection of this 
    Agreement or in connection with the Loans made pursuant to this Agreement. 
    Lender may hire one or more attorneys to help collect the Indebtedness if 
    Borrower does not pay, and Borrower will pay Lender's reasonable attorneys' 
    fees. 
 
    Notices. All notices required to be given under this Agreement shall be 
    given in writing, and shall be effective when actually delivered or when 
    deposited with a nationally recognized overnight courier or deposited in the 
    United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, addressed to the party to 
    whom the notice is to be given at the address shown above. Any party may 
    change its address for notices under this Agreement by giving formal written 
    notice to the other parties, specifying that the purpose of the notice is to 
    change the party's address. To the extent permitted by applicable law, if 
    there is more than one Borrower, notice to any Borrower will constitute 
    notice to all Borrowers. For notice purposes, Borrower will keep Lender 
    informed at all times of Borrower's current address(es). 
 
    Severability. If a court of competent jurisdiction finds any provision of 
    this Agreement to be invalid or unenforceable as to any person or 
    circumstance, such finding shall not render that provision invalid or 
    unenforceable as to any other persons or circumstances. If feasible, any 
    such offending provision shall be deemed to be modified to be within the 
    limits of enforceability or validity; however, if the offending provision 
    cannot be so modified, it shall be stricken and all other provisions of this 
    Agreement in all other respects shall remain valid and enforceable. 
 
    Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, 
    each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall 
    constitute the same document. Signature pages may be detached from the 
    counterparts to a single copy of this Agreement to physically form one 
    document. 
 
    Successors and Assigns. All covenants and agreements contained by or on 
    behalf of Borrower shall bind its successors and assigns and shall inure to 
    the benefit of Lender, its successors and assigns. Borrower shall not, 
    however, have the right to assign its rights under this Agreement or any 
    interest therein, without the prior written consent of Lender. 
 
    Survival. All warranties, representations, and covenants made by Borrower in 
    this Agreement or in any certificate or other instrument delivered by 
    Borrower to Lender under this Agreement shall be considered to have been 
    relied upon by Lender and will survive the making of the Loan and delivery 
    to Lender of the Related Documents, regardless of any investigation made by 
    Lender or on Lender's behalf. 
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    Time Is of the Essence. Time is of the essence in the performance of this 
    Agreement. 
 
    Waiver. Lender shall not be deemed to have waived any rights under this 
    Agreement unless such waiver is given in writing and signed by Lender. No 
    delay or omission on the part of Lender in exercising any right shall 
    operate as a waiver of such right or any other right. A waiver by Lender of 
    a provision of this Agreement shall not prejudice or constitute a waiver of 
    Lender's right otherwise to demand strict compliance with that provision or 
    any other provision of this Agreement. No prior waiver by Lender, nor any 
    course of dealing between Lender and Borrower, or between Lender and any 
    Grantor or Guarantor, shall constitute a waiver of any of Lender's rights or 
    of any obligations of Borrower or of any Grantor as to any future 
    transactions. Whenever the consent of Lender is required under this 
    Agreement, the granting of such consent by Lender in any instance shall not 
    constitute continuing consent in subsequent instances where such consent is 
    required, and in all cases such consent may be granted or withheld in the 
    sole discretion of Lender. 
 
FINAL AGREEMENT. Borrower understands that this Agreement and the related loan 
documents are the final expression of the agreement between Lender and Borrower 
and may not be contradicted by evidence of any alleged oral agreement. 
 
BORROWER ACKNOWLEDGES HAVING READ ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THIS LOAN AGREEMENT, AND 
BORROWER AGREES TO ITS TERMS. THIS AGREEMENT IS EXECUTED AS OF THE DATE SET 
FORTH ABOVE. 
 
BORROWER: 
 
Gentner Communications Corporation, a Utah corporation 
 
X /s/ Susie Strohm            
  ----------------------------- 
       Susie Strohm, CFO 
 
LENDER: 
 
Bank One, Utah, NA 
 
By: /s/ Stephen A. Cazier     
  ----------------------------- 
       Authorized Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                       28 



   15 
 
                                    ADDENDUM 
 
 
                                                       
Borrower:      Gentner Communications Corporation                Lender:Bank One, Utah, NA 
               1825 Research Way                                 Commercial Banking 
               Salt Lake City, Utah 84119                        80 West Broadway 
                                                                 Salt Lake City, Utah 84101 
 
================================================================================ 
 
This ADDENDUM is attached to and by this reference made a part of the Business 
Loan Agreement, dated January 5, 1999, and executed in connection with a loan or 
other financial accommodations between Bank One, Utah, NA and Gentner 
Communications Corporation. 
 
ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS - FINANCIAL STATEMENTS. Furnish Lender with, as soon as 
available, but in no event later than ninety (90) days after the end of each 
fiscal year, Borrower's balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in 
financial position, and 10K for the year ended, audited by certified public 
accountant(s) reasonably acceptable to Lender, and as soon as available, but in 
no event later than thirty (30) days after the end of each fiscal quarter, 
Borrower's balance sheet, income statement, statement of changes in financial 
position, and 10Q for the period ended, prepared and certified, subject to year 
end review adjustments, as correct to the best knowledge and belief by 
Borrower's chief financial officer of other officer or person acceptable to 
Lender. All financial reports required to be provided under this Agreement shall 
be prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principals, applied 
on a consistent basis, and certified by Borrower as being true and correct. 
 
ADDITIONAL AFFIRMATIVE COVENANT - CERTAIN REPORTS. Notwithstanding any other 
provision to the contrary herein or in the Related Documents, Borrower shall 
deliver to Lender within thirty (30) days after each month, if an outstanding 
balance of the Line of Credit existed at anytime during the month greater than 
$2,000,000.00; (i) a borrowing base certificate; (ii) an aging and listing of 
all accounts receivable prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principals which itemizes each account debtor by name and address and 
which states the total amount payable to Borrower and contains a breakdown 
indicating future amounts due and when due, current amounts due, amounts thirty 
(30) days past due, sixty (60) days past due, and ninety (90) days or more past 
due, and reflecting any credit adjustments, returns and allowances; (iii) an 
aging and listing of all accounts payable-trade prepared in a similar manner; 
(iv) an inventory listing. 
 
ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS - INSPECTION. Notwithstanding any other provision to the 
contrary herein or in the Related Documents, Borrower further covenants and 
agrees with Lender that, while this Agreement is in effect, Borrower shall have 
(i) an inspection of accounts receivable, accounts payable, and inventory done 
by Lender's auditor before April 1, 1999, and thereafter, (ii) an annual 
inspection of accounts receivable, accounts payable, and inventory done by 
Lender's auditor within thirty (30) days of Borrower's fiscal year end, all at 
Borrower's sole cost and expense, such expense not to exceed $750.00. 
 
ADDITIONAL AFFIRMATIVE COVENANT - CURRENT RATIO. Borrower further covenants and 
agrees with Lender that, while this Agreement is in effect, Borrower will comply 
at all times with the following ratio: Maintain, as of the end of each fiscal 
quarter, a ratio of (a) current assets, to (b) current liabilities, including 
without limitation, outstanding balances on Loans with Lender, of not less than 
2.0 to 1.0. 
 
Dated with effect as of the date of the Loan Agreement. 
 
LENDER: 
 
BANK ONE, UTAH, NA 
 
By: /s/ Stephen A. Cazier     
  ----------------------------- 
     Stephen A. Cazier 
Its: Vice President 
 
BORROWER: 
 
GENTNER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 
 
BY: /s/ Susie Strohm   
  ----------------------------- 
     Susie Strohm 
Its: CFO 
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                          COMMERCIAL SECURITY AGREEMENT 
 
 
 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Principal      Loan Date    Maturity     Loan No    Call    Collateral     Account      Officer   Initials 
                                                                                
  $5,000,000.00    01-05-1999                          096501       326      8279584877      73609 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
References in the shaded area are for Lender's use only and do not limit the applicability of this document to  
any particular loan or item. 
- --------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
Borrower: Gentner Communications Corporation, a Utah         Lender:    Bank One, Utah, NA 
          corporation                                        Commercial Banking 
          1825 Research Way                                  80 W. Broadway 
          Salt Lake City, UT  84119                          Salt Lake City, UT  84101 
============================================================================================================== 
 
 
THIS COMMERCIAL SECURITY AGREEMENT is entered into by Gentner Communications 
Corporation, a Utah corporation (referred to below as "Grantor") for the benefit 
of Bank One, Utah, NA (referred to below as "Lender"). For valuable 
consideration, Grantor grants to Lender a security interest in the Collateral to 
secure the Indebtedness and agrees that Lender shall have the rights stated in 
this Agreement with respect to the Collateral, in addition to all other rights 
which Lender may have by law. 
 
DEFINITIONS. The following words shall have the following meanings when used in 
this Agreement. Terms not otherwise defined in this Agreement shall have the 
meanings attributed to such terms in the Uniform Commercial Code as adopted in 
the State of Utah ("Code"). All references to dollar amounts shall mean amounts 
in lawful money of the United States of America. 
 
    Agreement. The word "Agreement" means this Commercial Security Agreement, as 
    this Commercial Security Agreement may be amended or modified from time to 
    time, together with all exhibits and schedules attached to this Commercial 
    Security Agreement from time to time. 
 
    Collateral. The word "Collateral" means the following described property of 
    Grantor, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, whether now existing or 
    hereafter arising, and wherever located: 
 
        All rights to payment of money now owned or hereafter acquired by the 
        Borrower whether due or to become due and whether or not earned by 
        performance and including but not limited to accounts, contract rights, 
        contract rights, chattel paper, instruments, general intangibles and 
        choses in action. All inventory now owned or hereafter acquired by 
        Borrower and whether or not held for sale or lease or to be furnished 
        under contracts of service including without limitation, all goods in 
        process, raw materials, parts, components, merchandise, demonstrators, 
        supplies, and things held for sale, resale or manufacture. All proceeds 
        of Receivables and Inventory. 
 
    In addition, the word "Collateral" includes all the following, whether now 
    owned or hereafter acquired, whether now existing or hereafter arising, and 
    wherever located: 
 
        (a) All attachments, accessions, accessories, tools, parts, supplies, 
        increases, and additions to and all replacements of and substitutions 
        for any property described above. 
 
        (b) All products and produce of any of the property described in this 
        Collateral section. 
 
        (c) All proceeds (including, without limitation, insurance proceeds) 
        from the sale, lease, destruction, loss, or other disposition of any of 
        the property described in this Collateral section. 
 
        (d) All records and data relating to any of the property described in 
        this Collateral section, whether in the form of a writing, photograph, 
        microfilm, microfiche, or electronic media, together with all of 
        Grantor's right, title, and interest in and to all computer software 
        required to utilize, create, maintain, and process any such records or 
        data on electronic media. 
 
Event of Default. The words "Event of Default" mean and include any of the 
Events of Default set forth below in the section titled "Events of Default." 
 
Grantor. The word "Grantor" means Gentner Communications Corporation, a Utah 
corporation, its successors and assigns (which is a debtor under the Code). 



 
Guarantor. The word "Guarantor" means and includes without limitation, each and 
all of the guarantors, sureties, and accommodation parties in connection with 
the Indebtedness 
 
Indebtedness. The word "Indebtedness" means the indebtedness evidenced by the 
Note, including all principal and accrued interest thereon, together with all 
other liabilities, costs and expenses for which Grantor is responsible under 
this Agreement or under any of the Re!ated Documents. In addition, the word 
"Indebtedness" includes all other obligations, debts and liabilities, plus any 
accrued interest thereon, owing by Grantor, or any one or more of them, to 
Lender of any kind or character, now existing or hereafter arising, as well as 
all present and future claims by Lender against Grantor, or any one or more of 
them, and all renewals, extensions, modifications, substitutions and 
rearrangements of any of the foregoing; whether such Indebtedness arises by 
note, draft, acceptance, guaranty, endorsement, letter of credit, assignment, 
overdraft, indemnity agreement or otherwise; whether such Indebtedness is 
voluntary or involuntary, due or not due, direct or indirect, absolute or 
contingent, liquidated or unliquidated; whether Grantor may be liable 
individually or jointly with others; whether Grantor may be liable primarily or 
secondarily or as debtor, maker, comaker, drawer, endorser, guarantor, surety, 
accommodation party or otherwise. 
 
Lender. The word "Lender" means Bank One, Utah, NA, its successors and assigns 
(which is a secured party under the Code). 
 
Note. The word "Note" means the promissory note dated January 5, 1999, in the 
principal amount of $5,000,000.00 from Gentner Communications Corporation, a 
Utah corporation to Lender, together with all renewals of, extensions of, 
modifications of, refinancings of, consolidations of and substitutions for such 
promissory note. 
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    Related Documents. The words "Related Documents" mean and include without 
    limitation the Note and all credit agreements, loan agreements, 
    environmental agreements, guaranties, security agreements, mortgages, deeds 
    of trust, and all other instruments, agreements and documents, whether now 
    or hereafter existing, executed in connection with the Note. 
 
OBLIGATIONS OF GRANTOR. Grantor represents, warrants and covenants to Lender as 
follows: 
 
    Perfection of Security Interest. Grantor agrees to execute such financing 
    statements and to take whatever other actions are requested by Lender to 
    perfect and continue Lender's security interest in the Collateral. Upon 
    request of Lender, Grantor will deliver to Lender any and all of the 
    documents evidencing or constituting the Collateral, and Grantor will note 
    Lender's interest upon any and all chattel paper if not delivered to Lender 
    for possession by Lender. Grantor hereby irrevocably appoints Lender as its 
    attorney-in-fact for the purpose of executing any documents necessary to 
    perfect or to continue the security interest granted in this Agreement. 
    Lender may at any time, and without further authorization from Grantor, file 
    a carbon, photographic or other reproduction of any financing statement or 
    of this Agreement for use as a financing statement. Grantor will reimburse 
    Lender for all expenses for the perfection and the continuation of the 
    perfection of Lender's security interest in the Collateral. Grantor has 
    disclosed to Lender all tradenames and assumed names currently used by 
    Grantor, all tradenames and assumed names used by Grantor within the 
    previous six (6) years and all of Grantor's current business locations. 
    Grantor will notify Lender in writing at least thirty (30) days prior to the 
    occurrence of any of the following: (i) any changes in Grantor's name, 
    tradename(s) or assumed name(s), or (ii) any change in Grantor's business 
    location(s) or the location of any of the Collateral. 
 
    No Violation. The execution and delivery of this Agreement will not violate 
    any law or agreement, governing Grantor or to which Grantor is a party, and 
    its certificate or articles of incorporation and bylaws do not prohibit any 
    term or condition of this Agreement. 
 
    Enforceability of Collateral. To the extent the Collateral consists of 
    accounts, chattel paper, or general intangibles, the Collateral is 
    enforceable in accordance with its terms, is genuine, and complies with 
    applicable laws concerning form, content and manner of preparation and 
    execution, and all persons appearing to be obligated on the Collateral have 
    authority and capacity to contract and are in fact obligated as they appear 
    to be on the Collateral. 
 
    Location of the Collateral. Grantor, upon request of Lender, will deliver to 
    Lender in form satisfactory to Lender a schedule of real properties and 
    Collateral locations relating to Grantor's operations, including without 
    limitation the following: (a) all real property owned or being purchased by 
    Grantor; (b) all real property being rented or leased by Grantor; (c) all 
    storage facilities owned, rented, leased, or being used by Grantor: and (d) 
    all other properties where Collateral is or may be located. Except in the 
    ordinary course of its business, Grantor shall not remove the Collateral 
    from its existing locations without the prior written consent of Lender. 
 
    Removal of Collateral. Grantor shall keep the Collateral (or to the extent 
    the Collateral consists of intangible property such as accounts, the records 
    concerning the Collateral) at Grantor's address shown above, or at such 
    other locations as are acceptable to Lender. Except in the ordinary course 
    of its business, including the sales of inventory, Grantor shall not remove 
    the Collateral from its existing locations without the prior written consent 
    of Lender. To the extent that the Collateral consists of vehicles, or other 
    titled property, Grantor shall not take or permit any action which would 
    require application for certificates of title for the vehicles outside the 
    State of Utah, without the prior written consent of Lender. 
 
    Transactions Involving Collateral. Except for inventory sold or accounts 
    collected in the ordinary course of Grantor's business, Grantor shall not 
    sell, offer to sell, or otherwise transfer or dispose of the Collateral. 
    While Grantor is not in default under this Agreement, Grantor may sell 
    inventory, but only in the ordinary course of its business and only to 
    buyers who qualify as a buyer in the ordinary course of business. A sale in 
    the ordinary course of Grantor's business does not include a transfer in 
    partial or total satisfaction of a debt or any bulk sale. Grantor shall not 
    pledge, mortgage, encumber or otherwise permit the Collateral to be subject 
    to any lien, security interest, encumbrance, or charge, other than the 
    security interest provided for in this Agreement, without the prior written 
    consent of Lender. This includes security interests even if junior in right 
    to the security interests granted under this Agreement. Unless waived by 
    Lender, all proceeds from any disposition of the Collateral (for whatever 
    reason) shall be held in trust for Lender and shall not be commingled with 



    any other funds; provided however, this requirement shall not constitute 
    consent by Lender to any sale or other disposition. Upon receipt, Grantor 
    shall immediately deliver any such proceeds to Lender. 
 
    Title. Grantor represents and warrants to Lender that it is the owner of the 
    Collateral and holds good and marketable title to the Collateral, free and 
    clear of all liens and encumbrances except for the lien of this Agreement. 
    No financing statement covering any of the Collateral is on file in any 
    public office other than those which reflect the security interest created 
    by this Agreement or to which Lender has specifically consented. Grantor 
    shall defend Lender's rights in the Collateral against the claims and 
    demands of all other persons. 
 
    Collateral Schedules and Locations. Insofar as the Collateral consists of 
    inventory, Grantor shall deliver to Lender, as often as Lender shall 
    require, such lists, descriptions, and designations of such Collateral as 
    Lender may require to identify the nature, extent, and location of such 
    Collateral. Such information shall be submitted for Grantor and each of its 
    subsidiaries or related companies. 
 
    Maintenance and Inspection of Collateral. Grantor shall maintain all 
    tangible Collateral in good condition and repair. Grantor will not commit or 
    permit damage to or destruction of the Collateral or any part of the 
    Collateral. Lender and its designated representatives and agents shall have 
    the right at all reasonable times to examine, inspect, and audit the 
    Collateral wherever located. Grantor shall immediately notify Lender of all 
    cases involving the return, rejection, repossession, loss or damage of or to 
    any Collateral; of any request for credit or adjustment or of any other 
    dispute arising with respect to the Collateral; and generally of all 
    happenings and events affecting the Collateral or the value or the amount of 
    the Collateral. 
 
    Taxes, Assessments and Liens. Grantor will pay when due all taxes, 
    assessments and governmental charges or levies upon the Collateral and 
    provide Lender evidence of such payment upon its request. Grantor may 
    withhold any such payment or may elect to contest any lien if Grantor is in 
    good faith conducting an appropriate proceeding to contest the obligation to 
    pay and so long as Lender's interest in the Collateral is not jeopardized in 
    Lender's sole opinion. If the Collateral is subjected to a lien which is not 
    discharged within fifteen (15) days, Grantor shall deposit with Lender cash, 
    a sufficient corporate surety bond or other security satisfactory to Lender 
    in an amount adequate to provide for the discharge of the lien plus any 
    interest, costs, reasonable attorneys' fees or other charges that could 
    accrue as a result of foreclosure or sale of the Collateral. In any contest 
    Grantor shall defend itself and Lender and shall satisfy any final adverse 
    judgment before enforcement against the Collateral. Grantor shall name 
    Lender as an additional obligee under any surety bond furnished in the 
    contest proceedings. 
 
    Compliance With Governmental Requirements. Grantor is conducting and will 
    continue to conduct Grantor's businesses in material compliance with all 
    federal, state and local laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, 
    orders, determinations and court decisions applicable  
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    to Grantor's businesses and to the production, disposition or use of the 
    Collateral, including without limitation, those pertaining to health and 
    environmental matters such as the Comprehensive Environmental Response, 
    Compensation, and Liability Act of 1980, as amended by the Superfund 
    Amendments and Reauthorization Act of 1986 (collectively, together with any 
    subsequent amendments, hereinafter called "CERCLA"), the Resource 
    Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, as amended by the Used Oil Recycling 
    Act of 1980, the Solid Waste Disposal Act Amendments of 1980, and the 
    Hazardous Substance Waste Amendments of 1984 (collectively, together with 
    any subsequent amendments, hereinafter called "RCRA"). Grantor represents 
    and warrants that (i) none of the operations of Grantor is the subject of a 
    federal, state or local investigation evaluating whether any material 
    remedial action is needed to respond to a release or disposal of any toxic 
    or hazardous substance or solid waste into the environment; (ii) Grantor has 
    not filed any notice under any federal, state or local law indicating that 
    Grantor is responsible for the release into the environment, the disposal on 
    any premises in which Grantor is conducting its businesses or the improper 
    storage, of any material amount of any toxic or hazardous substance or solid 
    waste or that any such toxic or hazardous substance or solid waste has been 
    released, disposed of or is improperly stored, upon any premises on which 
    Grantor is conducting its businesses; and (iii) Grantor otherwise does not 
    have any known material contingent liability in connection with the release 
    into the environment, disposal or the improper storage, of any such toxic or 
    hazardous substance or solid waste. The terms "hazardous substance" and 
    "release", as used herein, shall have the meanings specified in CERCLA, and 
    the terms "solid waste" and "disposal", as used herein, shall have the 
    meanings specified in RCRA; provided, however, that to the extent that the 
    laws of the State of Utah establish meanings for such terms which are 
    broader than that specified in either CERCLA or RCRA, such broader meanings 
    shall apply. The representations and warranties contained herein are based 
    on Grantor's due diligence in investigating the Collateral for hazardous 
    wastes and substances. Grantor hereby (a) releases and waives any future 
    claims against Lender for indemnity or contribution in the event Grantor 
    becomes liable for cleanup or other costs under any such laws, and (b) 
    agrees to indemnify and hold harmless Lender against any and all claims and 
    losses resulting from a breach of this provision of this Agreement. This 
    obligation to indemnify shall survive the payment of the Indebtedness and 
    the termination of this Agreement. 
 
    Maintenance of Casualty Insurance. Grantor shall procure and maintain all 
    risk insurance, including without limitation fire, theft and liability 
    coverage together with such other insurance as Lender may require with 
    respect to the Collateral, in form, amounts, coverages and basis reasonably 
    acceptable to Lender and issued by a company or companies reasonably 
    acceptable to Lender. Grantor, upon request of Lender, will deliver to 
    Lender from time to time the policies or certificates of insurance in form 
    satisfactory to Lender, including stipulations that coverages will not be 
    cancelled or diminished without at least thirty (30) days' prior written 
    notice to Lender and not including any disclaimer of the insurer's liability 
    for failure to give such a notice. Each insurance policy also shall include 
    an endorsement providing that coverage in favor of Lender will not be 
    impaired in any way by any act, omission or default of Grantor or any other 
    person. In connection with all policies covering assets in which Lender 
    holds or is offered a security interest, Grantor will provide Lender with 
    such loss payable or other endorsements as Lender may require. If Grantor at 
    any time fails to obtain or maintain any insurance as required under this 
    Agreement, Lender may (but shall not be obligated to) obtain such insurance 
    as Lender deems appropriate, including if it so chooses "single interest 
    insurance," which will cover only Lender's interest in the Collateral. 
 
    Application of Insurance Proceeds. Grantor shall promptly notify Lender of 
    any loss or damage to the Collateral. Lender may make proof of loss if 
    Grantor fails to do so within fifteen (15) days of the casualty. All 
    proceeds of any insurance on the Collateral, including accrued proceeds 
    thereon, shall be held by Lender as part of the Collateral. If Lender 
    consents to repair or replacement of the damaged or destroyed Collateral, 
    Lender shall, upon satisfactory proof of expenditure, pay or reimburse 
    Grantor from the proceeds for the reasonable cost of repair or restoration. 
    If Lender does not consent to repair or replacement of the Collateral, 
    Lender shall retain a sufficient amount of the proceeds to pay all of the 
    Indebtedness, and shall pay the balance to Grantor. Any proceeds which have 
    not been disbursed within six (6) months after their receipt and which 
    Grantor has not committed to the repair or restoration of the Collateral 
    shall be used to prepay the Indebtedness. Application of insurance proceeds 
    to the payment of the Indebtedness will not extend, postpone or waive any 
    payments otherwise due, or change the amount of such payments to be made and 
    proceeds may be applied in such order and such amounts as Lender may elect. 
 
    Solvency of Grantor. As of the date hereof, and after giving effect to this 
    Agreement and the completion of all other transactions contemplated by 
    Grantor at the time of the execution of this Agreement, (i) Grantor is and 



    will be solvent, (ii) the fair salable value of Grantor's assets exceeds and 
    will continue to exceed Grantor's liabilities (both fixed and contingent), 
    (iii) Grantor is paying and will continue to be able to pay its debts as 
    they mature, and (iv) if Grantor is not an individual, Grantor has and will 
    have sufficient capital to carry on Grantor's businesses and all businesses 
    in which Grantor is about to engage. 
 
    Lien Not Released. The lien, security interest and other security rights of 
    Lender hereunder shall not be impaired by any indulgence, moratorium or 
    release granted by Lender, including but not limited to, the following: (a) 
    any renewal, extension, increase or modification of any of the Indebtedness; 
    (b) any surrender, compromise, release, renewal, extension, exchange or 
    substitution granted in respect of any of the Collateral; (c) any release or 
    indulgence granted to any endorser, guarantor or surety of any of the 
    Indebtedness; (d) any release of any other collateral for any of the 
    Indebtedness; (e) any acquisition of any additional collateral for any of 
    the Indebtedness; and (f) any waiver or failure to exercise any right, power 
    or remedy granted herein, by law or in any of the Related Documents. 
 
    Request for Environmental Inspections. Upon Lender's reasonable request from 
    time to time, Grantor will obtain at Grantor's expense an inspection or 
    audit report(s) addressed to Lender of Grantor's operations from an 
    engineering or consulting firm approved by Lender, indicating the presence 
    or absence of toxic and hazardous substances, underground storage tanks and 
    solid waste on any premises in which Grantor is conducting a business; 
    provided, however, Grantor will be obligated to pay for the cost of any such 
    inspection or audit no more than one time in any twelve (12) month period 
    unless Lender has reason to believe that toxic or hazardous substance or 
    solid wastes have been dumped or released on any such premises. If Grantor 
    fails to order or obtain an inspection or audit within ten (10) days after 
    Lender's request, Lender may at its option order such inspection or audit, 
    and Grantor grants to Lender and its agents, employees, contractors and 
    consultants access to the premises in which it is conducting its business 
    and a license (which is coupled with an interest and is irrevocable) to 
    obtain inspections and audits. Grantor agrees to promptly provide Lender 
    with a copy of the results of any such inspection or audit received by 
    Grantor. The cost of such inspections and audits by Lender shall be a part 
    of the Indebtedness, secured by the Collateral and payable by Grantor on 
    demand. 
 
    Landlord's Waivers. Grantor agrees that upon the request of Lender, Grantor 
    shall cause each landlord of real property leased by Grantor at which any of 
    the Collateral is located from time to time to execute and deliver 
    agreements satisfactory in form and substance to Lender by which such 
    landlord waives or subordinates any rights it may have in the Collateral. 
 
GRANTOR'S RIGHT TO POSSESSION. Until default, Grantor may have possession of the 
tangible personal property and beneficial use of all the Collateral and may use 
it in any lawful manner not inconsistent with this Agreement or the Related 
Documents, provided that Grantor's right to possession and beneficial use shall 
not apply to any Collateral where possession of the Collateral by Lender is 
required by law to perfect Lender's  
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security interest in such Collateral. If Lender at any time has possession of 
any Collateral, whether before or after an Event of Default, Lender shall be 
deemed to have exercised reasonable care in the custody and preservation of the 
Collateral if Lender takes such action for that purpose as Grantor shall request 
or as Lender, in Lender's sole discretion, shall deem appropriate under the 
circumstances, but failure to honor any request by Grantor shall not of itself 
be deemed to be a failure to exercise reasonable care. Lender shall not be 
required to take any steps necessary to preserve any rights in the Collateral 
against prior parties, nor to protect, preserve or maintain any security 
interest given to secure the Indebtedness. 
 
EXPENDITURES BY LENDER. If not discharged or paid when due, Lender may (but 
shall not be obligated to) discharge or pay any amounts required to be 
discharged or paid by Grantor under this Agreement, including without limitation 
all taxes, liens, security interests, encumbrances, and other claims, at any 
time levied or placed on the Collateral. Lender also may (but shall not be 
obligated to) pay all costs for insuring, maintaining and preserving the 
Collateral. All such expenditures incurred or paid by Lender for such purposes 
will then bear interest at the rate charged under the Note from the date 
incurred or paid by Lender to the date of repayment by Grantor. All such 
expenses shall become a part of the Indebtedness and be payable on demand by 
Lender. Such right shall be in addition to all other rights and remedies to 
which Lender may be entitled upon the occurrence of an Event of Default. 
 
EVENTS OF DEFAULT. Each of the following shall constitute an Event of Default 
under this Agreement: 
 
    Default on Indebtedness. Failure of Grantor to make any payment when due on 
    the Indebtedness. 
 
    Other Defaults. Failure of Grantor to comply with or to perform any other 
    term, obligation, covenant or condition contained in this Agreement, the 
    Note, any of the other Related Documents or in any other agreement now 
    existing or hereafter arising between Lender and Grantor. 
 
    False Statements. Any warranty, representation or statement made or 
    furnished to Lender under this Agreement, the Note or any of the other 
    Related Documents is false or misleading in any material respect. 
 
    Default to Third Party. The occurrence of any event which permits the 
    acceleration of the maturity of any indebtedness owing by Grantor or any 
    Guarantor to any third party under any agreement or undertaking. 
 
    Bankruptcy or Insolvency. If the Grantor or any Guarantor: (i) becomes 
    insolvent, or makes a transfer in fraud of creditors, or makes an assignment 
    for the benefit of creditors, or admits in writing its inability to pay its 
    debts as they become due; (ii) generally is not paying its debts as such 
    debts become due; (iii) has a receiver, trustee or custodian appointed for, 
    or take possession of, all or substantially all of the assets of such party 
    or any of the Collateral, either in a proceeding brought by such party or in 
    a proceeding brought against such party and such appointment is not 
    discharged or such possession is not terminated within sixty (60) days after 
    the effective date thereof or such party consents to or acquiesces in such 
    appointment or possession; (iv) files a petition for relief under the United 
    States Bankruptcy Code or any other present or future federal or state 
    insolvency, bankruptcy or similar laws (all of the foregoing hereinafter 
    collectively called "Applicable Bankruptcy Law") or an involuntary petition 
    for relief is filed against such party under any Applicable Bankruptcy Law 
    and such involuntary petition is not dismissed within sixty (60) days after 
    the filing thereof, or an order for relief naming such party is entered 
    under any Applicable Bankruptcy Law, or any composition, rearrangement, 
    extension, reorganization or other relief of debtors now or hereafter 
    existing is requested or consented to by such party; (v) fails to have 
    discharged within a period of sixty (60) days any attachment, sequestration 
    or similar writ levied upon any property of such party; or (vi) fails to pay 
    within thirty (30) days any final money judgment against such party. 
 
    Liquidation, Death and Related Events. If Grantor or any Guarantor is an 
    entity, the liquidation, dissolution, merger or consolidation of any such 
    entity or, if any of such parties is an individual, the death or legal 
    incapacity of any such individual. 
 
    Creditor or Forfeiture Proceedings. Commencement of foreclosure or 
    forfeiture proceedings, whether by judicial proceeding, self-help, 
    repossession or any other method, by any creditor of Grantor or by any 
    governmental agency against the Collateral or any other collateral securing 
    the Indebtedness. 
 
RIGHTS AND REMEDIES ON DEFAULT. If an Event of Default occurs under this 
Agreement, at any time thereafter, Lender shall have all the rights of a secured 



party under the Code. In addition and without limitation, Lender may exercise 
any one or more of the following rights and remedies: 
 
    Accelerate Indebtedness. Lender may declare the entire Indebtedness, 
    including any prepayment penalty which Grantor would be required to pay, 
    immediately due and payable, without notice. 
 
    Assemble Collateral. Lender may require Grantor to deliver to Lender all or 
    any portion of the Collateral and any and all certificates of title and 
    other documents relating to the Collateral. Lender may require Grantor to 
    assemble the Collateral and make it available to Lender at a place to be 
    designated by Lender. Lender also shall have full power to enter upon the 
    property of Grantor to take possession of and remove the Collateral. If the 
    Collateral contains other goods not covered by this Agreement at the time of 
    repossession, Grantor agrees Lender may take such other goods, provided that 
    Lender makes reasonable efforts to return them to Grantor after 
    repossession. 
 
    Sell the Collateral. Lender shall have full power to sell, lease, transfer, 
    or otherwise dispose of the Collateral or the proceeds thereof in its own 
    name or that of Grantor. Lender may sell the Collateral (as a unit or in 
    parcels) at public auction or private sale. Lender may buy the Collateral, 
    or any portion thereof, (i) at any public sale, and (ii) at any private sale 
    if the Collateral is of a type customarily sold in a recognized market or is 
    of a type which is the subject of widely distributed standard price 
    quotations. Lender shall not be obligated to make any sale of Collateral 
    regardless of a notice of sale having been given. Lender may adjourn any 
    public or private sale from time to time by announcement at the time and 
    place fixed therefor, and such sale may, without further notice, be made at 
    the time and place to which it was so adjourned. Unless the Collateral is 
    perishable or threatens to decline speedily in value or is of a type 
    customarily sold on a recognized market, Lender will give Grantor reasonable 
    notice of the time and place of any public sale thereof or of the time after 
    which any private sale or any other intended disposition of the Collateral 
    is to be made. The requirements of reasonable notice shall be met if such 
    notice is given at least ten (10) days prior to the date any public sale, or 
    after which a private sale, of any of such Collateral is to be held. All 
    expenses relating to the disposition of the Collateral, including without 
    limitation the expenses of retaking, holding, insuring, preparing for sale 
    and selling the Collateral, shall become a part of the Indebtedness secured 
    by this Agreement and shall be payable on demand, with interest at the Note 
    rate from date of expenditure until repaid. 
 
    Appoint Receiver. To the extent permitted by applicable law, Lender shall 
    have the following rights and remedies regarding the appointment of a 
    receiver: (a) Lender may have a receiver appointed as a matter of right, (b) 
    the receiver may be an employee of Lender and may serve  
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    without bond, and (c) all fees of the receiver and his or her attorney shall 
    become part of the Indebtedness secured by this Agreement and shall be 
    payable on demand, with interest at the Note rate from date of expenditure 
    until repaid. 
 
    Collect Revenues, Apply Accounts. Lender, either itself or through a 
    receiver, may collect the payments, rents, income, and revenues from the 
    Collateral. Lender may transfer any Collateral into its own name or that of 
    its nominee and receive the payments, rents, income, and revenues therefrom 
    and hold the same as security for the Indebtedness or apply it to payment of 
    the Indebtedness in such order of preference as Lender may determine. 
    Insofar as the Collateral consists of accounts, general intangibles, 
    insurance policies, instruments, chattel paper, choses in action, or similar 
    property, Lender may demand, collect, receipt for, settle, compromise, 
    adjust, sue for, foreclose, or realize on the Collateral as Lender may 
    determine. For these purposes, Lender may, on behalf of and in the name of 
    Grantor, receive, open and dispose of mail addressed to Grantor; change any 
    address to which mail and payments are to be sent; and endorse notes, 
    checks, drafts, money orders, documents of title, instruments and items 
    pertaining to payment, shipment, or storage of any Collateral. To facilitate 
    collection, Lender may notify account debtors and obligors on any Collateral 
    to make payments directly to Lender. 
 
    Obtain Deficiency. If Lender chooses to sell any or all of the Collateral, 
    Lender may obtain a judgment against Grantor for any deficiency remaining on 
    the Indebtedness due to Lender after application of all amounts received 
    from the exercise of the rights provided in this Agreement. Grantor shall be 
    liable for a deficiency even if the transaction described in this subsection 
    is a sale of accounts or chattel paper. 
 
    Other Rights and Remedies. Lender shall have all the rights and remedies of 
    a secured creditor under the provisions of the Code, as may be amended from 
    time to time. In addition, Lender shall have and may exercise any or all 
    other rights and remedies it may have available at law, in equity, or 
    otherwise. Grantor waives any right to require Lender to proceed against any 
    third party, exhaust any other security for the Indebtedness or pursue any 
    other right or remedy available to Lender. 
 
    Cumulative Remedies. All of Lender's rights and remedies, whether evidenced 
    by this Agreement or the Related Documents or by any other writing, shall be 
    cumulative and may be exercised singularly or concurrently. Election by 
    Lender to pursue any remedy shall not exclude pursuit of any other remedy, 
    and an election to make expenditures or to take action to perform an 
    obligation of Grantor under this Agreement, after Grantor's failure to 
    perform, shall not affect Lender's right to declare a default and to 
    exercise its remedies. 
 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 
 
    Amendments. This Agreement, together with any Related Documents, constitutes 
    the entire understanding and agreement of the parties as to the matters set 
    forth in this Agreement and supercedes all prior written and oral agreements 
    and understandings, if any, regarding same. No alteration of or amendment to 
    this Agreement shall be effective unless given in writing and signed by the 
    party or parties sought to be charged or bound by the alteration or 
    amendment. 
 
    Applicable Law. This Agreement has been delivered to Lender and accepted by 
    Lender in the State of Utah. Subject to the provisions on arbitration in any 
    Related Document, this Agreement shall be governed by and construed in 
    accordance with the laws of the State of Utah without regard to any conflict 
    of laws or provisions thereof. 
 
    JURY WAIVER. THE UNDERSIGNED AND LENDER (BY ITS ACCEPTANCE HEREOF) HEREBY 
    VOLUNTARILY, KNOWINGLY, IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVE ANY RIGHT TO 
    HAVE A JURY PARTICIPATE IN RESOLVING ANY DISPUTE (WHETHER BASED UPON 
    CONTRACT, TORT OR OTHERWISE) BETWEEN OR AMONG THE UNDERSIGNED AND LENDER 
    ARISING OUT OF OR IN ANY WAY RELATED TO THIS DOCUMENT, AND ANY OTHER RELATED 
    DOCUMENT, OR ANY RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN LENDER AND THE BORROWER. THIS 
    PROVISION IS A MATERIAL INDUCEMENT TO LENDER TO PROVIDE THE FINANCING 
    DESCRIBED HEREIN OR IN THE OTHER RELATED DOCUMENTS. 
 
    Attorneys' Fees; Expenses. Grantor will upon demand pay to Lender the amount 
    of any and all costs and expenses (including without limitation, reasonable 
    attorneys' fees and expenses) which Lender may incur in connection with (i) 
    the perfection and preservation of the collateral assignment and security 
    interests created under this Agreement, (ii) the custody, preservation, use 
    or operation of, or the sale of, collection from, or other realization upon, 
    the Collateral, (iii) the exercise or enforcement of any of the rights of 
    Lender under this Agreement, or (iv) the failure by Grantor to perform or 



    observe any of the provisions hereof. 
 
    Termination. Upon (i) the satisfaction in full of the Indebtedness and all 
    obligations hereunder, (ii) the termination or expiration of any commitment 
    of Lender to extend credit that would become Indebtedness hereunder, and 
    (iii) Lender's receipt of a written request from Grantor for the termination 
    hereof, this Agreement and the security interests created hereby shall 
    terminate. Upon termination of this Agreement and Grantor's written request, 
    Lender will, at Grantor's sole cost and expense, return to Grantor such of 
    the Collateral as shall not have been sold or otherwise disposed of or 
    applied pursuant to the terms hereof and execute and deliver to Grantor such 
    documents as Grantor shall reasonably request to evidence such termination. 
 
    Indemnity. Grantor hereby agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless 
    Lender, and its officers, directors, shareholders, employees, agents and 
    representatives (each an "Indemnified Person") from and against any and all 
    liabilities, obligations, claims, losses, damages, penalties, actions, 
    judgments, suits, costs, expenses or disbursements of any kind or nature 
    (collectively, the "Claims") which may be imposed on, incurred by or 
    asserted against, any Indemnified Person (whether or not caused by any 
    Indemnified Person's sole, concurrent or contributory negligence) arising in 
    connection with the Related Documents, the Indebtedness or the Collateral 
    (including, without limitation, the enforcement of the Related Documents and 
    the defense of any Indemnified Person's action and/or inactions in 
    connection with the Related Documents), except to the limited extent that 
    the Claims against the Indemnified Person are proximately caused by such 
    Indemnified Person's gross negligence or willful misconduct. The 
    indemnification provided for in this Section shall survive the termination 
    of this Agreement and shall extend and continue to benefit each individual 
    or entity who is or has at any time been an Indemnified Person hereunder. 
 
    Caption Headings. Caption headings in this Agreement are for convenience 
    purposes only and are not to be used to interpret or define the provisions 
    of this Agreement. 
 
    Notices. All notices required to be given under this Agreement shall be 
    given in writing, and shall be effective when actually delivered or when 
    deposited with a nationally recognized overnight courier or deposited in the 
    United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, addressed to the party to 
    whom the notice is to be given at the address shown above. Any party may 
    change its address for notices under this Agreement by giving formal written 
    notice to the other parties, specifying that the purpose of the notice is to 
    change the party's address. To the extent  
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    permitted by applicable law, if there is more than one Grantor, notice to 
    any Grantor will constitute notice to all Grantors. For notice purposes, 
    Grantor will keep Lender informed at all times of Grantor's current 
    address(es). 
 
    Power of Attorney. Grantor hereby irrevocably appoints Lender as its true 
    and lawful attorney-in-fact, such power of attorney being coupled with an 
    interest, with full power of substitution to do the following in the place 
    and stead of Grantor and in the name of Grantor: (a) to demand, collect, 
    receive, receipt for, sue and recover all sums of money or other property 
    which may now or hereafter become due, owing or payable from the Collateral; 
    (b) to execute, sign and endorse any and all claims, instruments, receipts, 
    checks, drafts or warrants issued in payment for the Collateral; (c) to 
    settle or compromise any and all claims arising under the Collateral, and, 
    in the place and stead of Grantor, to execute and deliver its release and 
    settlement for the claim; and (d) to file any claim or claims or to take any 
    action or institute or take part in any proceedings, either in its own name 
    or in the name of Grantor, or otherwise, which in the discretion of Lender 
    may seem to be necessary or advisable. This power is given as security for 
    the Indebtedness, and the authority hereby conferred is and shall be 
    irrevocable and shall remain in full force and effect until renounced by 
    Lender. 
 
    Severability. If a court of competent jurisdiction finds any provision of 
    this Agreement to be invalid or unenforceable as to any person or 
    circumstance, such finding shall not render that provision invalid or 
    unenforceable as to any other persons or circumstances. If feasible, any 
    such offending provision shall be deemed to be modified to be within the 
    limits of enforceability or validity; however, if the offending provision 
    cannot be so modified, it shall be stricken and all other provisions of this 
    Agreement in all other respects shall remain valid and enforceable. 
 
    Successor Interests. Subject to the limitations set forth above on transfer 
    of the Collateral, this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the 
    benefit of the parties, their successors and assigns; provided, however, 
    Grantor's rights and obligations hereunder may not be assigned or otherwise 
    transferred without the prior written consent of Lender. 
 
    Waiver. Lender shall not be deemed to have waived any rights under this 
    Agreement unless such waiver is given in writing and signed by Lender. No 
    delay or omission on the part of Lender in exercising any right shall 
    operate as a waiver of such right or any other right. A waiver by Lender of 
    a provision of this Agreement shall not prejudice or constitute a waiver of 
    Lender's right to thereafter demand strict compliance with that provision or 
    any other provision of this Agreement. No prior waiver by Lender, nor any 
    course of dealing between Lender and Grantor, shall constitute a waiver of 
    any of Lender's rights or of any of Grantor's obligations as to any future 
    transactions. Whenever the consent of Lender is required under this 
    Agreement, the granting of such consent by Lender in any instance shall not 
    constitute continuing consent to subsequent instances where such consent is 
    required and in all cases such consent may be granted or withheld in the 
    sole discretion of Lender. 
 
GRANTOR ACKNOWLEDGES HAVING READ ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THIS COMMERCIAL SECURITY 
AGREEMENT, AND GRANTOR AGREES TO ITS TERMS. THIS AGREEMENT IS DATED JANUARY 5, 
1999. 
 
GRANTOR: 
 
Gentner Communications Corporation, a Utah corporation 
 
X /s/ Susie Strohm     
- ----------------------------- 
     Susie Strohm, CFO 
 
================================================================================ 
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                                2,778,799 
                                 (277,064) 
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                        2,498,791 
                                              0 
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                                          0 
                                         8,123 
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                 9,986,198 
                                      5,253,477 
                             5,253,477 
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                                2,362,164 
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                                825,081 
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